# Determinants of undernutrition among children under 2 years of age in Bangladesh: insights from nationally representative data

Iftia Jerin Bangladesh

49<sup>th</sup> International Course in Health Development September 19, 2012-Semptember 6, 2013

KIT (Royal Tropical Institute) Development Policy & Practice/ Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam

#### "Determinants of undernutrition among children under 2 years of age in Bangladesh: insights from nationally representative data"

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Public Health

Βу

Iftia Jerin Bangladesh

Declaration:

Where other people's work has been used (either from a printed source, internet or any other source) this has been carefully acknowledged and referenced in accordance with departmental requirements. The thesis "Determinants of undernutrition among children under 2 years of age in Bangladesh: insights from nationally representative data" is my own work.

Signature Iftia Jerin

49<sup>th</sup> International Course in Health Development September 19, 2012-Semptember 6, 2013 KIT (Royal Tropical Institute) Development Policy & Practice/ Vrije Universiteit. Amsterdam, The Netherlands

September 2013

Organised by:

KIT (Royal Tropical Institute), Development Policy & Practice Amsterdam, The Netherlands

In co-operation with: Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam/Free University of Amsterdam (VU) Amsterdam, The Netherlands

# **Table of Contents**

Dedication iv
Acknowledgement
List of abbreviations
Abstractvii
Introductionix
Chapter 1: Background information about Bangladesh1
1.1 Geography and population:1
1.2 Socio-economic situation:1
1.2.1 Housing characteristics1
1.2.2 Economic context1
1.2.3 Food production1
1.2.4 Education2
1.3 Health and health care system2
1.4 Maternal and child health:
1.5 Nutrition situation in Bangladesh3
1.5.1 Maternal and child nutrition:3
1.5.2 National food and nutrition policy3
1.5.3 National response to nutrition4
Chapter 2: Problem statement, justification, objectives and methodology5
2.1 Problem statement5
2.2 Justification6
2.3 Objectives:
2.3.1 General objective:
2.3.2 Specific objectives:
2.4 Methodology:
2.4.1 Target population of the study:8
2.4.2 Source of data:
2.4.3 Methodology of the DHS and sample size of the thesis:
2.4.4 Independent variables
2.4.5 Dependant variables

2.4.6.Statistical analysis	10
2.4.7 Search strategy	
2.4.8 Limitations of the study	
2.4.9 Conceptual framework	
Chapter 3: Literature review	
3.1 Immediate causes:	
3.1.1 Dietary intake:	
3.1.2 Health Status or morbidity history:	
3.2 Underlying causes:	
3.2.1 Household food security:	
3.2.2 Caring for women and children	
3.2.3 Environmental factors and utilization of health services:	
3.3 Basic causes	14
3.3.1 Socio-demographic factors:	14
Chapter 4: Study results	
4.1 Sample characteristics	
4.2 Results of univariate and multivariate analysis	
4.2.1 Immediate causes:	
4.2.2 Underlying causes:	
4.2.3 Basic causes	
4.2.3.1 Socio-demographic factors	
Chapter 5: Discussion	
5.1 Key determinants for undernutrition	
5.1.1 Immediate cause	
5.1.2 Underlying causes	
5.1.3 Basic causes	
5.2 The way forward	
Chapter 6: Conclusions and recommendations	
6.1 Conclusions	
6.2 Recommendations	
Reference	

# List of figures

Figure 1: Map of Bangladesh	1
Figure 2: Trends in nutritional status of children under 5 years of age, 2004, 2007, and 2011	6
Figure 3: Global prevalence of stunting among <5 years	6
Figure 4: Actual and projected underweight rates for children under 5 years	7
Figure 5: Conceptual framework for immediate, underlying, and basic determinants of child	
undernutrition	11
Figure 6: Sex distribution (%) of children	17
Figure 7: Distribution of mother's (%) educational level	18
Figure 8: Percentage of children with different types of undernutrition	18
Figure 9: Age distribution (%) of children	19
Figure 10: Distribution of children (%) by wealth quintile	19

# List of tables

Table 1: Proxy indicators for immediate, underlying and basic causes of undernutrition
Table 2: Association between dietary intake and undernutrition of under 2 children
Table 3: Association between morbidity history and undernutrition of children under 2 years of age 21
Table 4: Association of household food security and undernutrition of children under 2 years of age 22
Table 5: Association of care practices for women and children with undernutrition of children under 2
years of age
Table 6: Association of environmental factors and utilization of health services with undernutrition of
under 2 years children
Table 7: Association of socio-demographic factors and undernutrition of children under 2 years of age 26

# List of annexes

Annex 1: Glossary	. 48
Annex 2: Definition of indicators for assessing infant and young child feeding practices	. 49
Annex 3: Background characteristics of the child	. 54
Annex 4: Infant and Young Child Feeding (IYCF) Indicators	. 56
Annex 5: Results of univariate analysis	. 57
Annex 6: WHO scoring on IYCF intervention activities in Bangladesh	. 63

# Dedication

I would like to dedicate this thesis

To my beloved son Ahnaf Insaf (Kabbo)

# Acknowledgement

First of all I would like to express my gratitude to the almighty Allah as I was able to finish the thesis with his enormous blessings.

I acknowledge and thank sincerely to my thesis Advisor and Back stopper for their useful advices and feedbacks during my thesis writing.

I express my sincere thanks to the course coordinator of Royal Tropical Institute and all the academic and office staffs of the institute for their support during the course.

I would like to thank Netherlands Government for granted me the fellowship from the Netherland Fellowship Programmes (NFP) to study a Master Degree in Public Health in KIT (Royal Tropical Institute).

I would like to thank my work supervisor Dr. Khurshid Talukder from Centre for Woman and Child Health (CWCH) to recommend me for this scholarship and encouraged me to attend this course.

I would like to thank all of my colleagues 2012-2013 who always supported and helped me during the course through sharing experiences and providing feedbacks.

Finally I deeply express my thanks to my family and appreciate for giving me support during my study period. Special thanks to my husband who took very sincere care of my small lovely son during my study period and made me comfortable to continue my study in KIT (Royal Tropical Institute), Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

# List of abbreviations

A&T	Alive and Thrive
ANC	Antenatal Care
ARI	Acute Respiratory Infection
BBS	Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics
BDHS	Bangladesh Demographic Health Survey
BMI	Body Mass Index
BRAC	Programme Bangladesh Rural Advancement Committee
CI	Confidence Interval
DALYs	Disability-Adjusted Life Years
EAs	Enumeration Areas
FFWs	Food for Works
EPI	Expanded Programme of Immunization
FWAs	Family Welfare Assistants
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
Has	Health Assistants
HAZ	Height-for-Age Z-score
НКІ	Helen Keller International
HNPSP	Health, Nutrition and Population Sector Programme
HPNSDP	Health, Population and Nutrition Sector Development Programme
HPSP	Health and Population Sector Programme
IDD	Iodine Deficiency Disorder
IMCI	Integrated Management of Childhood Illness
IMR	Infant Mortality Rate
IYCF	Infant and Young Child Feeding
LMICs	Low and Middle Income Countries
MAD	Minimum Acceptable Diet
MAs	Medical Assistants
MDD	Minimum Dietary Diversity
MDGs	Millennium Development Goals
MMF	Minimum Meal Frequency
MMR	Maternal Mortality Ratio
MoHFW	Ministry of Health and Family Welfare
LGRD&Co	Local Government, Rural Development and Cooperatives
NGOs	Non Governmental Organizations
NMR	Neonatal Mortality Rate
NNP	National nutrition programme
NNS	National Nutrition Services
NSP	Nutrition Surveillance Project
OR	Odds Ratio
РНС	Primary Health Care
SAM	Severe Acute Malnutrition
SWAp	Sector-Wide Approach
TBAs	Traditional Birth Attendants
UHC	Upazila Health Complex
UNHFWC	Union Health and Family Welfare Centre
UNICEF	United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund

VGF	Vulnerable Group Feeding
WAZ	Weight-for-Age Z-score
WFP	World Food Programme
WHO	World Health Organization
WHZ	Weight-for-Height Z-score

## Abstract

#### Introduction

Undernutrition among children under 2 years of age is a major public health problem in Bangladesh. The aim of this study was to understand the determinants which are contributing to the development of undernutrition among children under 2 years in context of Bangladesh.

#### Methods

Utilizing data from 2936 children aged 0-23 months included in the 2011 Bangladesh Demographic and Health Survey (BDHS), this study assessed the association between undernutrition and different determinants. Three anthropometric indices (stunting, underweight and wasting) were used to assess child's nutritional status. Both univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses were done to find out the factors associated with child's nutritional status. A literature review was also done to guide the analysis.

#### Results

Study findings revealed that the prevalence of stunting, underweight and wasting was 34.5%, 27.9% and 15.4% respectively among children under 2 years of age. The multivariate results showed that children with low BMI mothers had 1.4 (95% CI [1.15-1.73], p=0.001) and 1.4 (95% CI [1.11-1.81], p=0.004) times more likely to be underweight and wasted than children with normal BMI mothers. Minimum dietary diversity, minimum meal frequency, minimum acceptable diet, prelacteal feeding, fever, diarrhoea, ARI, household food security, mother's antenatal care, region, age of the child, access to media, father's education, mother's education and wealth quintile were also important determinants associated with child's undernutrition.

#### **Conclusion and Recommendation**

This study concludes that undernutrition among children under 2 years of age is influenced by multiple factors and a multi-sectoral approach is required to improve the nutritional status of children in Bangladesh. Not only nutrition specific intervention but also nutrition sensitive approaches i.e. women empowerment, agriculture, education, social protection and safety net are required to reduce the burden of child undernutrition.

**Keywords:** Undernutrition, determinants, children under 2, interventions, and Bangladesh. **Word count: 12,372** 

## Introduction

Undernutrition is a serious public health problem in Bangladesh. The levels of child undernutrition in Bangladesh are among the highest in the world. According to BDHS 2011, the prevalence of stunting, underweight, and wasting among under 5 children are 41%, 36% and 16% respectively. Among the under 5 children, those under 2 years of age are more vulnerable to undernutrition. First two years of life is a crucial time for health and cognitive development of a child. Poor nutrition during this period can lead to serious physical and cognitive retardation which is irreversible. It may cause long term consequences such as adult short stature, lower educational achievement, and reduced productivity. In addition, the consequences of undernutrition is intergeneration that means it passed across generations as low BMI mothers (undernourished) give birth to low birthweight babies. The problem of undernutrition can be tackled effectively if evidence based intervention are delivered before age of 2.

My education background is from nutrition field. I completed my Master degree in nutrition and food science in 2007. Thereafter I started my work in Centre for Woman and Child Health (CWCH) and got an opportunity to be involved in management of malnourished children. My working place is located in the middle of the garments industry area of Bangladesh. Poor female garment workers came to my hospital with malnourished children everyday. I was involved to counsel those mothers about breastfeeding, complementary feeding practices etc. From this experience I came to realize that not only poverty but also other factors like education, culture, and lack of knowledge are contributing to the development of malnutrition. I was interested to recognize the contextual factors that are contributing to the development of undernutrition among children under 2 years of age in Bangladesh. Therefore I chose the thesis regarding determinants of undernutition of under 2 children in context of Bangladesh.

Addressing undernutrition is very important as it can lead to achieve Millennium Development Goal (MDG) 1 in developing countries which will in turn increase the chance of achieving goals 4 and 5. Thus, Low and Middle Income Countries (LMICs) like Bangladesh it is an urgent need to find out the determinants of undernutrition and take effective action to eradicate it.

This thesis is organized in 6 chapters. Chapter 1 and 2 describes the country background, problem statement, justification, objectives and methodology. Chapter 3 presents the literature on determinants of undernutrition in Bangladesh. Chapter 4 analyzes the determinants of undernutrition among under 2 children. Chapter 5 gives a clear discussion and intervention activities to mitigate malnutrition. Chapter 6 concludes the thesis through providing recommendation to improve the nutrition situation for children under 2 years of age.

# **Chapter 1: Background information about Bangladesh**

# 1.1 Geography and population:

Bangladesh is a densely populated South Asian country, surrounded by India and Myanmar. It has 147,570 square kilometers of area.<sup>1</sup> Population is almost 150 million and approximately 1,015 persons live in per square kilometer.<sup>2</sup> The country is divided into 7 divisions, 64 districts and 483 upazilas for administrative purpose.<sup>3</sup> Almost 72% of people live in rural areas.<sup>4</sup> Islam is the most dominated religion and 90% people are muslim which is followed by hindu (9%) and other religions (1%).<sup>5</sup>

Figure 1: Map of Bangladesh



Source: Worldatlas, 2013.

#### **1.2 Socio-economic situation:**

#### **1.2.1 Housing characteristics**

Average family member in a household is 4.6. Around 89% of household is headed by the men and only 11% are headed by the women. Almost 99% of households have access to an improved source of drinking water. In addition, one-third of the households use (34%) improved not shared toilet facility. More households in rural area (6%) have no toilet facility compared to urban area (1%). Access to electricity is increased from 47% in 2007 to 60% in 2011.<sup>1</sup> There is a disparity between urban (90%) and rural area (49%) in regard to access of electricity. Currently mobile phone user is 78%. Moreover, every 4 out of 10 households have television and most of the urban households have television.<sup>1</sup>

#### **1.2.2 Economic context**

Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rate is 6.32% in 2011-2012. Per capita income has increased from US\$599 in 2007-08 to US\$848 in 2011-2012.<sup>6,7</sup> Country has Gross national income is per capita \$1940.<sup>8</sup> Though service sector contributes to more than half of the GDP but nearly two third of population are employed in the agriculture sector. 45% of labour forces are engaged in agricultural sector, 30% in industrial sector and 25% in service sector. Service sector contributes to 54.1% of the GDP which is then followed by industrial sector (28.6%) and agricultural sector (17.3%) respectively.<sup>9</sup> Textile industry is an emerging sector in Bangladesh and it employs nearly 3.2 million workers.<sup>10</sup> Despite recent high growth rates, 31.5% population people live under poverty line.<sup>4</sup> Sharp disparities exist between urban and rural area in regard to wealth quintile and urban people have better economic condition than rural people.<sup>1</sup>

#### **1.2.3 Food production**

Rice is the most dominating crop and more than 80% land is used for rice production. Very limited land is used for production of micronutrient rich crops such as vegetables, fruits, pulses and oilseeds. Production of non-agricultural crops such as meat, fish, milk, and egg are far below than the actual requirement of the people.<sup>11</sup>

#### **1.2.4 Education**

In 1990, Bangladesh government adopted a primary education policy to achieve universal primary enrolment by 2005. Government is providing free and equal primary education for all children.<sup>12</sup> Public expenditure on education as % of total government expenditure is 14.1% of GDP.<sup>4</sup> Almost 95% of people have attended school. In primary level, there is no gender difference according to school enrolment. But more men usually complete secondary or higher education than women. Overall, percentage of completion of secondary or higher education increased among both men and women since 2007. For men it increased from 12% to 15% in 2011 and for women it increased from 7% to 10% in 2011. Completion of secondary or higher education and levels of educational attainment is higher in urban than in rural area.<sup>1</sup>

#### 1.3 Health and health care system

The health care system is basically centralized in nature and both public and private sector are providing health services. Both curative and promotive health services of the country are planned and managed by the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare (MoHFW). But delivery of health services including Primary Health Care (PHC) services in the urban area are managed by the Ministry of Local Government, Rural Development and Cooperatives (LGRD&Co). Since 1998, government has been pursuing a sector-wide approach (SWAp) to improve the effectiveness of the service and to provide the demand responsive service for country's population. With inclusion of nutrition the initial Health and Population Sector Programme (HPSP) of the period 1998 – 2003 was reformed by Health, Nutrition and Population Sector Programme (HNPSP) in 2003- 2010.<sup>13</sup> In Bangladesh total health expenditure is 3.7% of GDP. Majority of health expenditure is from private sector and almost 97% of health expenditure is from out of pocket (OOP).<sup>14</sup>

PHC services are delivered by three layers: community (ward), union and upazila. To revitalize the PHC services government has taken initiative to make the community clinics operational. These community clinics, serve 6000 rural people, are the unique example of community participation. As local community leaders and representatives, called Community Clinic Management Group, are responsible to manage these clinics.<sup>13</sup> Health Assistants (HAs) and Family Welfare Assistants (FWAs), namely domiciliary health staff, are providing services in community clinic each for 3 days a week alternatively. The Union Health and Family Welfare Centre (UNHFWC) provides outpatient care services and supervise the field activities at the community level and are staffed by Medical Assistants (MAs) and Family Welfare Visitors (midwife). The Upazila Health Complex (UHC), staffed by qualified medical practitioner, provides outpatient and inpatient health care services at sub district level and serves as the first level referral facility.<sup>15</sup> The district hospitals (100-250 beds) and medical colleges (650 beds) are providing curative care at secondary and tertiary levels respectively.<sup>13,15</sup>

The private sector facilities are mostly providing for-profit curative services and are gradually taking a big share of services at all levels.<sup>15</sup> In the private sector, there is a wide range of providers—private health practitioners, traditional healers, homeopathic practitioners, village doctors, and pharmacists. They vary by qualification, skill, experience, and type of health care practiced.<sup>16</sup>

# 1.4 Maternal and child health:

During pregnancy, around 68% of pregnant women received antenatal care (ANC) at least once from any kind of provider in Bangladesh and majority of them (55%) received care from a medically trained personnel. ANC service uptake from a medically trained provider is decreased with increasing age and birth order. In Bangladesh, still 71% of deliveries are home delivery and more than half of the deliveries (53%) are assisted by untrained Traditional Birth Attendants (TBAs). Only 29% of births are delivered at health facility and among them 12% in a public facility, 15% in a private facility, and 2% in an NGO facility. Use of facilities for delivery care is common among mothers who are educated, live in better wealth quintile and in urban area.<sup>1</sup> Bangladesh is on the way to achieve Millennium Development Goal (MDG) 5 and maternal mortality ratio (MMR) decreased from 322 in 2001 to 194/ 100,000 live births in 2010.<sup>17</sup>

In Bangladesh, approximately above 90% of children are fully vaccinated against vaccine preventable diseases.<sup>18,19</sup> The coverage of BCG is 93% or higher but coverage of measles vaccine is slightly lower (88%) than other vaccines.<sup>1</sup> Diarrhoea and pneumonia<sup>1</sup> are most common diseases among under 5 and they are within top ten causes of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) in Bangladesh.<sup>20</sup> Bangladesh ranked 60 among the world list of under 5 mortality and under 5 mortality rate is 46/1000 live births. Among under 5 mortality, a major proportion of children died during infant and neonatal period. Infant mortality rate (IMR) is 37/ 1000 live births and neonatal mortality rate (NMR) is 26/1000 live births in Bangladesh.<sup>18</sup>

# **1.5 Nutrition situation in Bangladesh**

## 1.5.1 Maternal and child nutrition:

In Bangladesh, 22% children are born with low birth weight (<2500gm). The prevalence of stunting, underweight and wasting among under 5 children is 41%, 36% and 16% respectively. Around 51% of children aged 6-59 months are anemic. Exclusive breastfeeding rate under 6 months of age is 64% and introduction of semisolid, solid food at 6-8 months of age is 71%.<sup>18</sup> Breastfeeding is universal and 90% of children breastfeed until age 2. Among age 6-23 months, only 21% are fed appropriately based on recommended infant and young child feeding (IYCF) practices. The prevalence of undernutrition (BMI <18.5) and obesity (BMI ≥25) is 24% and 17% respectively among women age 15-49 years. Over forty percent (42%) women age 15-49 years are anemic.<sup>1</sup>

# 1.5.2 National food and nutrition policy

The policy stipulates the need to incorporate nutritional objectives, component and consideration into development policies and programme. The strength of this policy implementation is that it is a consensus document emphasizing human rights, it will complement with other policies of the government and it has achievable broad goals and objectives with wide coverage.<sup>21</sup> But the major gap in the implementation of policy is the lack of implementation guidelines, an overly ambitious target, lack of monitoring and evaluation guidelines, lack of strong commitment, lack of earmarking of funds, inadequate leadership of the policy coordinator's authority and lack of attention to the lessons learned.<sup>22</sup>

#### 1.5.3 National response to nutrition

National nutrition programme (NNP) under the HNPSP was the single provider of comprehensive nutrition intervention administered by the government and implemented by local NGOs.<sup>23</sup> Core component was to increase awareness and treatment of malnutrition, micronutrient supplementation for mother and child, growth monitoring, women empowerment etc. Although this programme was designed based on local needs but it only covered 30% of the country's population.<sup>24</sup> The efficacy of the programme has been questioned and in 2011 government stopped that programme. Under the Health, Population and Nutrition Sector Development Programme (HPNSDP, 2011-2016),<sup>25</sup> government replaced NNP with National Nutrition Services (NNS) to mainstream nutrition within the health system. NNS has targeted many different types of intervention like promotion of breastfeeding and complementary feeding, micronutrient supplementation, growth monitoring and promotion, promotion of Severe Acute Malnutrition (SAM).<sup>26</sup> All these activities will be guided by NNS operation plan. In Bangladesh vitamin A supplementation programme is scheduled with measles vaccination and now coverage is 60% among under 5 children.<sup>1</sup> To reduce iodine deficiency disorders (IDD) government has taken different initiatives. A variety of other stakeholders such as Alive and Thrive (A&T), Bangladesh Rural Advancement Committee (BRAC), World Food Programme (WFP), and Helen Keller International (HKI) are implementing different small scale interventions in some targeted areas.

# Chapter 2: Problem statement, justification, objectives and methodology

## 2.1 Problem statement

Undernutrition is the serious health problem and the single largest contributor to child mortality.<sup>27</sup> Globally, undernutrition is responsible for 3.1 million deaths of children under 5 annually which constitute 45% of all child deaths in 2011.<sup>28</sup> Around 11% of total global DALYs are lost because of child undernutrition.<sup>29</sup> Globally, it is estimated that the prevalence of stunting among under 5 has decreased from 40% in 1990 to 26% in 2011 and more than 90% of stunted children live in Africa and Asia. Prevalence of underweight also declined from 25% in 1990 to 16% in 2011. Though prevalence of both stunting and underweight has decreased but it is not satisfactory level and still millions of children remain at risk. In addition, prevalence of wasting is 8% among under 5 children and around 70% of wasted children live in Asia. These children have increased risk of SAM and death.<sup>27</sup> Most of the Asian countries are now going through rapid economic growth but still undernutrition remains a big challenge for them especially for South Asian countries.<sup>30</sup> The prevalence of stunting, underweight and wasting in South Asia is 39%, 33% and 16% respectively which is much higher than the global figure. Moreover, the prevalence of undernutrition in India, Bangladesh, Afghanistan, and Pakistan is 38-51% which is even much higher than the sub-Saharan Africa (26%).<sup>31</sup>

First two years of life is a crucial time for health and cognitive development of a child. Poor nutrition during this period can lead to serious physical and cognitive retardation which is irreversible. It may cause long term consequences such as adult short stature, lower educational achievement, reduced productivity and chronological malnutrition that means it passed across generations as low BMI mothers (undernourished) give birth to low birthweight babies.<sup>32</sup> In addition, undernutrition during this time also has short term consequences such as mortality, morbidity and disability. Undernourished children are at high risk of developing chronic diseases in later life if they gain rapid weight after infancy. According to Lancet child survival series 2008, undernutrition accounts for the cause of one third of under 5 child deaths and disease burden and effective interventions targeted at under 2 child can mitigate this problems.<sup>33,29</sup>

Undernutrition remains a serious public health problem in Bangladesh.<sup>24,34</sup> Like South Asian countries, the levels of child undernutrition in Bangladesh are among the highest in the world. The prevalence of stunting among under 5 children was 51% in 2004. Although it decreased to 43% in 2007 but after that there was little change since 2011 (41%). (See figure 2). Among all stunted children in 2011, 15% are severely stunted. Stunting is more prevalent among 18-23 months age group and is slightly higher among female children (42%). In addition, over the 7 years periods underweight decreased from 43% in 2004 to 36% in 2011 and among them 10% children are severely underweight. Underweight is mostly common among children age 36-47 months. Female children are slightly more underweight (39%) than male (34%) children. In between 2004 to 2011, there is little change for the percentage of wasted children. Level of wasting increased from 15% in 2004 to 17% in 2007 and again declined to 16% in 2011. Male children are slightly more likely to be wasted (16%) than female children (15%) and wasting is

more common among children 18-23 months. A study analyzed nationally representative data showed that prevalence of stunting, underweight and wasting among children under 2 years of age is 33.6%, 34.7% and 21.4% respectively.<sup>35</sup>



Figure 2: Trends in nutritional status of children under 5 years of age, 2004, 2007, and 2011

Source: BDHS, 2011.

Since 2004, the nutritional status of children has improved but Bangladesh still remains in the list of high prevalence country. (See figure 3).





Source: Lancet, 2008.

Bangladesh has made significant improvement in achieving some of the health indicators such as MMR decreased from 322 in 2001 to 194/ 100,000 live births in 2010 and IMR fell from 87 in 1993 to 43/1000 live births in 2011,<sup>36,1</sup> as well as under 5 mortality dropped from 148 in 1990 to 53/ 1000 live births deaths in 2011.<sup>37,1</sup> In spite of considerable progress in some health indicators but still maternal and child nutrition remains the neglected agenda. Only since 2003 nutrition issues started to receive attention from government.

## 2.2 Justification

For a child, first two years of life is a crucial time for health and cognitive development. Undernutrition has long term, irreversible, and intergenerational consequences for children under 2 which may result in

increased morbidity and mortality, high disease burden, short adult size, low school performance, and low productivity. All these factors are negatively linked with economic development of a country.<sup>31</sup> So, it is important to prevent undernutrition of under 2 children which will in turn improve the overall nutritional situation and will increase the productivity of the country.

Improvement of maternal and child nutrition is the precondition for the economic development of the country. There is strong correlation between undernutrition and poverty and for that reasons the 2nd target of MGD 1 is to halve the under 5 underweight rate by 2015 from its 1990 level. Presence of undernutrition is not only contributing to the failure of achievement of MDG 1 but also is contributing to the failure of other MDGs such as MDG 4 (reducing under 5 mortality) and MDG 5 (improving maternal health). Actually it is interlinked with all other MDGs.<sup>31</sup> In between 2000 and 2005, Bangladesh has made significant progress to achieve the high rates of economic growth and in reducing poverty rates by 9% (from 49% to 40%), but still this country is far from being on track for achieving the 2nd target of MDG 1. Though Bangladesh government made promise to achieve MDGs 1, 4 and 5 by 2015 but Bangladesh's MDGs progress report 2011<sup>38</sup> mentioned that it is not possible to the reach the MDG target of 33% prevalence rate of underweight by 2015. (See figure 4). Recent data of UNICEF<sup>39</sup> also noticed that Bangladesh's progress towards achieving the MDG 1 is insufficient.



Figure 4: Actual and projected underweight rates for children under 5 years

Source: Bangladesh MGDs progress report 2011.

Interaction of multiple factors is accountable for the occurrence of undernutrition.<sup>29</sup> A framework developed by UNICEF<sup>40</sup> (See figure 5) showed that social, political, economic and environmental causes are interplayed for the development of undernutrition. In Bangladesh, there are limited studies regarding the determinants of under nutrition among children under 2 years of age. Several studies<sup>41,42,43,44,45,46</sup> have been done by analyzing nationally representative data to find out the determinants of undernutrition for under 5 children but from those studies very little is known about determinants of undernutrition for under 2 children. Three studies<sup>47,48,35</sup> have reported the determinants of undernutrition for under 2 children in context of Bangladesh. But two of them are not representative of whole country and one study only examined the association of IYCF indicators and

undernutrition. Bangladesh, like many other LMICs, is going through demographic and nutrition transition and lifestyle and dietary pattern of the people is changing frequently. So, these study findings are not enough to take concerned decision about the intervention to reduce undernutrition for under 2 children.

Intense nutrition intervention in developing countries can lead to achieve MDG 1 which will in turn increase the chance of achieving MDG 4 and 5. The new NNS under the government nutrition operation plan (HPNSDP) for 2011-2016<sup>49</sup> will be implemented with different nutrition interventions all over the country. According to lancet 2013, if only ten evidence-based interventions with 90% coverage can reach to people then it can reduce 15% of total death among under 5 children.<sup>50</sup> From the above scenario it is evident that this is the right time now to find out the determinants of undernutrition of under 2 children in Bangladesh. Therefore, this study will find out the determinants of undernutrition of under 2 children in order to guide the policy maker and stakeholders to take concerned decision about implementation of feasible and evidence based interventions and resource allocation which will improve the survival and nutritional status of under 2 children in the country.

# 2.3 Objectives:

## 2.3.1 General objective:

This paper aims to identify the determinants of undernutrition among children under 2 years of age in order to provide recommendations to policymakers and stakeholders to improve the nutritional status of under 2 children in Bangladesh.

#### 2.3.2 Specific objectives:

- To explore the determinants of undernutrition among children under 2 years of age in Bangladesh using a literature review.
- To analyze the key determinants of undernutrition (stunting, underweight and wasting) among children under 2 years of age using Bangladesh Demographic Health Survey (BDHS) datasets.
- To provide recommendations based on the study findings to policymakers and stakeholders for the improvement of nutritional status of under 2 children in Bangladesh.

# 2.4 Methodology:

#### 2.4.1 Target population of the study:

Children under 2 years of age.

## 2.4.2 Source of data:

Bangladesh DHS 2011 datasets which are available in MEASURE DHS website has been accessed and downloaded for further analysis to determine the determinants of undernutrition among children under 2 years of age. The data has been used after taking required approval by the author from the MEASURE DHS archive.

#### 2.4.3 Methodology of the DHS and sample size of the thesis:

Data analyzed for the thesis was Bangladesh DHS 2011 which used a two stage stratified sample of household. 600 EAs (enumeration areas) were selected at first stage of sampling with 393 clusters in rural areas and 207 clusters in urban areas. All household under each EA were listed which were then used as sampling frame for the second-stage selection of household. By using an equal probability systematic sampling technique, on average 30 households were selected from per EA. The survey was expected to get complete interview of 18,072 ever-married women aged 15–49 years. Finally, 17,842 ever married women were interviewed, yielding a response rate of 98%. Among 17,842 interviewed women, 6,196 and 11,646 were interviewed from urban and rural area respectively. The present analysis was included all the youngest living children under 2 years who were alive and living with respondent (ever-married women age 15–49 years). A total of 3202 eligible children under 2 years of age met the inclusion criteria. Due to missing anthropometric data we excluded 278 children. So after excluding those children, sample size was 2924 and the total weighted sample size was 2936.

#### 2.4.4 Independent variables

Variables focused in this thesis are age of the child, sex of the child, region, types of residence, father's education, father's occupation, access to media, source of drinking water, toilet facility, morbidity history such as fever, diarrhoea and Acute Respiratory infection (ARI), mother's education, mother's age during child birth, antenatal care visit (ANC), mother's body mass index (BMI), birth order, place of delivery, prelacteal feeding, household food security and wealth quintile. Three variables namely household food security, wealth quintile and access to media are composite variables. The wealth index which reflects the socioeconomic condition of the household is an assets based index. This index is mostly used in developing countries to measure the inequalities and to control the confounding effect of socioeconomic variables. This variable includes ownership of some assets (e.g. refrigerator, television), housing characteristics (e.g. materials of wall, floor, and roof) and access to services (e.g. electricity). Access to media, is also a composite indicator which developed based on three variables whether they listen radio, watch television and read newspaper or magazine. It was divided into two categories where 'yes' means household had access to at least one of these media and 'no' means no access to media. Food insecurity questions were included in BDHS 2011 questionnaire and the reference period for the food insecurity assessment was 12 months preceding the survey to allow the seasonal variation. All IYCF indicators were calculated by using WHO indicators for IYCF practice.<sup>51</sup> The indicators are early initiation of breastfeeding; exclusive breastfeeding <6 months; introduction of solid, semi-solid or soft foods at 6-8 months; continued breastfeeding at 1 year; minimum dietary diversity (MDD); minimum meal frequency (MMF); and minimum acceptable diet (MAD). In this study, MDD was defined as proportion of children aged 6-23 months who received four or more food groups out of seven. MMF was defined as proportion of all 6-23 months children (both breastfeed and non breastfeed) who received solid, semisolid or soft foods the minimum number of times or more. Minimum was defined according to WHO guideline (see annex 2). MAD, a composite indicator, was calculated from two fractions; breastfeed children who received at least the MDD and MMF; and non breastfeed who had received at least the MDD and MMF including two milk feedings during previous day.

#### 2.4.5 Dependent variables

Height-for-age Z-score (HAZ), weight-for-age Z-score (WAZ) and weight-for-height Z-score (WHZ)-these three anthropometric indices were calculated based on the WHO growth standards and used to measure the nutritional status of children. Stunting, underweight and wasting were defined as being less than 2 SD below the median of the WHO reference population in terms for HAZ, WAZ and WHZ respectively.

#### 2.4.6 Statistical analysis

Stunting, underweight and wasting were examined against a set of independent variables to determine the prevalence and factors associated with undernutrition among children under 2 years of age. Analysis was performed by using SPSS version 11.5 programme. A chi-squared test was used to estimate the undernutrition among exposed and non-exposed group. The logistic regression was run to calculate the both unadjusted and adjusted odds ratio for the different independent variables. After univariate analysis, we constructed a multivariate regression model by the following procedure: only variables which showed significant (p<0.05) result with the outcome variable in the univariate analysis was entered into the final model; the potential confounders were included in the analysis; and we also considered multi-colinearity. We ran separate regression model for each outcome variable and the model included all significant variables from univariate analysis and potential confounders. The final results of multivariate regression analysis were presented by odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence interval.

#### 2.4.7 Search strategy

A literature review was conducted in order to collect evidence to support the conceptual framework for data analysis. Databases such as PubMed, Google, Google Scholar and Hinari were used to search the relevant information. My keywords were determinants of undernutrition, under 2 children, Bangladesh, socio-demographic determinants, morbidity, feeding practices, environmental factors, interventions, strategies, programme, IYCF promotion intervention, micronutrient supplementation, and poverty alleviation.

#### 2.4.8 Limitations of the study

- The data is cross sectional in nature so selection and recall bias could affect the results.
- Some limited proxy indicators have been used for analysis.
- Important determinants like mother's knowledge on nutrition, hygiene practices have not been analyzed. As these data were not available in DHS datasets, analysis of these indicators could be considered for future.
- For literature review, this study broadened the age group up to under 5 as study for under 2 children is very limited in context of Bangladesh.

#### 2.4.9 Conceptual framework

Interaction of multiple determinants such as individual, community, and societal level factors are responsible for child undernutrition. The conceptual frame work develop by UNICEF<sup>40</sup> will be used to analyze the determinants of undernutrition of under 2 children in context of Bangladesh.





Adapted from UNICEF 1990

# **Chapter 3: Literature review**

There are limited studies on determinants of undernutrition among children under 2 years of age in context of Bangladesh. Very little is known about the determinants of undernutrition among children under 2 years of age. In order to analyze the determinants of undernutrition, this thesis reviewed literature to understand the immediate, underlying and basic causes which influence the development of undernutrition of under 2 children in Bangladesh. Because of scarcity of literature, the age group was broadened up to under 5 years with extrapolations made to children under 2 where possible.

# 3.1 Immediate causes:

# 3.1.1 Dietary intake:

The literature suggests that there is strong association between dietary intake and undernutrition of children of under 2 years. A study was done to find out the relation of IYCF indicators and undernutrition of under 2 children by using 2007 Bangladesh DHS data and it showed that dietary factors such as exclusive breastfeeding under 6 months of age, MDD and MAD were important factors related with undernutrition of under 2 children. Exclusive breastfeeding acted as a protective factor against wasting among children of <6 months. Children who achieved MDD and a MAD had lower level of stunting and underweight than children who did not achieve MDD and a MAD.<sup>35</sup>

Another study conducted in Bangladesh showed that frequency of complementary feeding was significantly associated with stunting. Children who received frequent complementary feeding were less likely to be stunted compared to children who did not receive frequent complementary feeding.<sup>44</sup>

# 3.1.2 Health Status or morbidity history:

Research showed poor health status or morbidity is closely linked with nutritional status of children. A study investigated the determinants of child malnutrition of Bangladesh using BDHS 2004 data and it showed that incidence of some diseases such as fever, ARI and diarrhoea were the significant predictors of child malnutrition. Children who suffered from ARI, fever and diarrhoea within last 2 weeks of the survey had 1.2, 1.3 and 1.2 times higher risk of being underweight respectively in comparison to children with no such health problems.<sup>52</sup> Another study showed that presence of ARI was the risk factor associated with wasting.<sup>53</sup>

A study in rural Bangladesh showed that presence of diarrhoea within previous 2 weeks of survey was a risk factor associated with stunting. Children with Diarrhoea in the previous two weeks were 1.2 and 1.1 times more likely to be moderately and severely stunted than children without diarrhoea. The study also noted that highest rate of diarrhoea occurred among undernourished children which actually reflect the vicious cycle of the malnutrition–infection interaction.<sup>47</sup>

# 3.2 Underlying causes:

# 3.2.1 Household food security:

HKI Bangladesh has done a study by using nationally representative Nutrition Surveillance Project (NSP)'s data and showed that household food insecurity was an important determinant of

undernutrition. Children from food insecure household were more stunted than children from food secure households.<sup>54</sup> Another study showed that children from food insecure households had 1.2 times higher risk to be stunted and underweight than children from food secure households.<sup>55</sup>

## 3.2.2 Caring for women and children

Siddiqi et al. analyzed Bangladesh's DHS 2007 data and showed that mother's age during child birth was associated with undernutrition of children. Study result demonstrated that children with mother's age less than 20 years were 1.2 and 1.3 times more likely to be stunted and underweight than children with mother's age 20 years or more.<sup>42</sup> Another study also showed that mother's age during child birth was the determinant for stunting.<sup>56</sup>

Rayhan et al. investigated the determinants of undernutrition among children in Bangladesh and showed that maternal nutritional status has a significant effect on the nutritional status of their children. Children whose mothers had normal BMI were 30% less likely to be underweight compared to children whose mother had low BMI.<sup>46</sup> Other studies in context of Bangladesh showed that maternal BMI was a risk factors for stunting<sup>41,42,45, 47, 56,57,58</sup>, underweight<sup>42,47,52</sup> and wasting<sup>42,46,47,53</sup>.

Research conducted in Bangladesh showed that birth order of the child was significantly associated with chronic undernutrition of children. Results of three studies illustrated that the risk of being severely stunted was lower for first, third and fourth order births than fifth or higher order births.<sup>41,45,59</sup>

Evidence showed that following recommended feeding practices had positive effects on nutritional status of children. A cohort study has been done in Bangladesh to see the causal relation between infant feeding practices (e.g. 1<sup>st</sup> hour initiation of breastfeeding, complementary feeding and prelacteal feeding practices) and child growth. The study results revealed that children who practiced recommended feeding had lower risk to be stunted, underweight, and wasted than children who did not practice recommended feeding.<sup>60</sup>

## 3.2.3 Environmental factors and utilization of health services:

Research conducted in Bangladesh to examine the predictors of undernutrition by using 2007 BDHS data showed that source of drinking water was a predictor for undernutrition among children. Study result revealed that children who drank piped water and tubewell water were 21% and 29% less likely to be wasted than the children who drank other sources of water.<sup>43</sup>

A study conducted in rural Bangladesh to find out the determinants of undernutrition among under 2 children by using NNP baseline survey data and showed that use of unhygienic toilet was significantly associated with undernutrition of children. Children whose families used un-hygienic toilet had higher level of moderate stunting and underweight than children whose families used hygienic toilet.<sup>47</sup> Other studies<sup>41,43,59</sup> also showed that toilet facility was the significant predictor for stunting and wasting.

Evidence showed that place of delivery has a significant effect on the chronic malnutrition of children in context of Bangladesh.<sup>56,45</sup> A study conducted in Bangladesh demonstrated that children delivered at

home with traditional delivery systems had 1.4 and 1.5 times higher risk of moderate and severe stunting than children born in hospital.<sup>45</sup>

Research showed that uptake of antenatal service was positively associated with better nutritional status of their children. Studies conducted in Bangladesh showed that children whose mothers had no ANC visits were 1.2 and 1.5 times more likely to be stunted<sup>42</sup> and underweight<sup>57</sup> than children whose mothers had ANC visits.

## 3.3 Basic causes

## 3.3.1 Socio-demographic factors:

A study investigated the effect of some socio-demographic, community and health factors on the chronic malnutrition in Bangladeshi children and showed that geographical region was significantly associated with stunting. The prevalence of stunting was highest among the children of Sylhet division compared to other divisions in Bangladesh.<sup>45</sup> Other studies also showed that geographical location had a strong association with chronic malnutrition.<sup>41,56,57,59</sup>

Research conducted in Bangladesh showed that risk of being undernourished increased with increasing age. The study noted that the risk of having underweight was 6.5 times higher among the children belonging to the age group 12-23 months compared to the infants.<sup>52</sup> Age of the child is a determinant for stunting<sup>56, 41,45,57,59</sup>, underweight<sup>52,59</sup> and wasting<sup>53,59</sup> as described by many studies .

A study conducted in Bangladesh showed that sex of the child had a strong significant effect on the undernutrition and male child had a higher risk of being stunted, underweight and wasted. Study result marked that female children had 30% and 20% less risk to be moderately stunted and underweight than males.<sup>47</sup>

Research conducted in Bangladesh showed that father's education was significantly related to the nutritional status of their children. Study results revealed that children whose father had no formal education and primary education were 2.3 and 1.9 times more likely to be severely stunted than children whose fathers had higher education.<sup>41</sup> Other studies also demonstrated that father's education is a strong determinant for stunting<sup>42,44,45,59</sup>, underweight<sup>42,46,59</sup> and wasting<sup>42,43</sup> in context of Bangladesh.

Alom et al. has done a study and showed that father's occupation has a significant effect on the nutrition outcomes of their children. The study results illustrated that children were more likely to be stunted and wasted if their fathers were involved in agriculture compared to business and service.<sup>59</sup>

Rahman et al. conducted a study in Bangladesh and showed that exposure of media to mother was significantly associated with undernutrition of children. Study findings demonstrated that the risk of being severely wasted was 2.5 times higher among the children whose mothers had no media exposure compared to children whose mother had media exposure.<sup>53</sup> Another study showed that media exposure to mother was significantly associated with stunting.<sup>45</sup>

Research in Bangladesh showed that the prevalence of stunting was 35% and 36% times higher among children whose mothers had no education and primary education compared to children whose mothers had higher education.<sup>42</sup> Other studies in context of Bangladesh showed that maternal education has a strong significant effect on stunting<sup>46, 47,45,57</sup>, underweight<sup>47,42,52</sup> and wasting<sup>42,43,47,59</sup>.

Research has been done in Bangladesh to identify the relationship between wealth inequality and chronic childhood undernutrition and showed that wealth quintile had the strong significant effect on chronic undernutrition. Study result showed that children from the lowest wealth quintile were 3 times more likely to suffer from chronic malnutrition than children from richest wealth quintile.<sup>56</sup> Several studies showed that household economic condition is the most strongest determinants of stunting,<sup>47, 42,41,45,57,59</sup> underweight<sup>47,42,52,59</sup> and wasting<sup>43,47,42</sup>.

To analyze the basic, underlying and immediate causes of malnutrition, this study selected some proxy indicators under each cause which will guide to interpret the results. These proxy indicators are described in the **table 1**.

Table 1: Prox	indicators for	r immediate.	underlying	and basic	causes of	undernutrition
Table 11110A		miniculate,	a	,		

Causes	Proxy indicators
Immediate causes	
Dietary intake	<ul> <li>Exclusive breastfeeding &lt;6 months</li> <li>MDD</li> <li>MMF</li> <li>MAD</li> </ul>
Health status or morbidity	<ul><li>Diarrhoea</li><li>ARI</li><li>Fever</li></ul>
Underlying causes	
Household food security	<ul> <li>Household food security</li> </ul>
Care for women and children	<ul> <li>Mother's age at child birth</li> <li>Mother's BMI</li> <li>Birth order</li> <li>Prelacteal feeding</li> <li>Initiation of breastfeeding</li> <li>Introduction of soft, semisolid or solid food at 6-8 months</li> <li>Continued breastfeeding at 1 year</li> </ul>
Environmental factors and utilization of health services	<ul> <li>Toilet facilities</li> <li>Sources of drinking water</li> <li>Place of delivery</li> <li>Mother's ANC visits</li> </ul>
Basic causes	
Socio-demographic factors	<ul> <li>Region</li> <li>Type of residence</li> <li>Age of the child</li> <li>Sex</li> <li>Father's education</li> <li>Father's occupation</li> <li>Access to media</li> <li>Mother's education</li> <li>Wealth index</li> </ul>

# **Chapter 4: Study results**

## 4.1 Sample characteristics

Child's age was distributed into 4 different categories: 0-5 months (23.4%), 6-11 months (27.6%), 12-17 months (26.5%), and 18-23 months (22.5%). Among all children, 50.8% of children were male and 49.2% were female. More than three fourth of children (77.5%) lived in rural areas whereas only 22.7% lived in urban areas. The majority of mothers of under 2 children (53.6%) had secondary and higher education, 30.1% had primary education and 16.3% of mothers had no education. In addition, 21.8% children were in the poorest wealth quintile and 19.8% in the middle and 17.8% were in the richest wealth quintile. 76% of households had tubewell for source of drinking water and 9.7% had piped water. Moreover, 54.3% used hygienic toilet and 45.7% used non-hygienic toilet. One third of children (34.5%) were stunted, 27.9% children were underweight, and 15.4% were wasted. Over sixty percent of children (62.7%) under 6 months were exclusively breastfeed. Some of the sample characteristics of the child and other IYCF indicators are showed in **annex 3** and **annex 4**.

Below is a graphical presentation of some of the sample characteristics of under 2 children.



#### Figure 6: Sex distribution (%) of children

Figure 7: Distribution of mother's (%) educational level



Figure 8: Percentage of children with different types of undernutrition



Figure 9: Age distribution (%) of children



Figure 10: Distribution of children (%) by wealth quintile



# 4.2 Results of univariate and multivariate analysis

#### 4.2.1 Immediate causes:

#### 4.2.1.1 Dietary intake

Exclusive breastfeeding showed insignificant association in univariate analysis so it was not included in multivariate analysis. The prevalence of stunting, underweight and wasting was 38.4%, 23.5% and 12.6% respectively among children who ate minimum 4 groups of food.

Variables	Total number	% Stunted (n)	Total number	% Underweight	Total number (N)	% Wasted	
	(N)		(N)	(n)		(n)	
Minimum dietary diversity for all 6 to 23 months children (both breastfeed & non-breastfeed)							
Yes	555	38.4% (213)	555	23.5% (130)	555	12.6% (70)	
No	1687	40.1% (677)	1687	34.2% (577)	1687	16.2% (274)	
Minimum meal f	requency for all 6	to 23 months child	ren (both breastfe	ed & non-breastfe	ed)		
Yes	1399	40.5% (566)	1399	28.7% (401)	1399	14.0% (196)	
No	801	38.3% (307)	801	35.8% (287)	801	17.6% (141)	
Minimum accept	table diet for all 6 t	to 23 months child	ren (both breastfe	ed & non-breastfe	ed)		
Yes	451	40.9% (184)	451	23.5% (106)	451	12.5% (56)	
No	1704	39.2% (668)	1704	33.1% (564)	1704	15.9% (271)	
Univariate analy	sis						
Variable	Unadjusted OR	P-value	Unadjusted OR	P-value	Unadjusted OR	P-value	
	(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for		
	stunting		underweight		wasting		
Minimum dietar	y diversity for all 6	to 23 months child	dren (both breastfe	eed & non-breastfo	eed)		
Yes	1		1		1		
No	1.5 (1.30-1.81)	0.000	1.9 (1.59-2.29)	0.000	1.1 (0.09-1.40)	0.274	
Minimum meal f	requency for all 6	to 23 months child	ren (both breastfe	ed & non-breastfe	ed)		
Yes	1		1		1		
No	0.9 (0.81-1.12)	0.589	1.3 (1.13-1.57)	0.001	1.1 (0.91-1.38)	0.283	
Minimum accept	table diet for all 6 t	to 23 months child	ren (both breastfe	ed & non-breastfe	ed)		
Yes	1		1		1		
No	1.5 (1.27-1.80)	0.000	1.9 (1.59-2.34)	0.000	1.0 (0.87-1.36)	0.441	
Multivariate ana	lysis						
Variable	Adjusted OR	P-value	Adjusted OR	P-value	Adjusted OR	P-value	
	(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for		
	stunting		underweight		wasting		
Minimum dietar	y diversity for all 6	5 to 23 months chil	dren (both breastf	eed & non-breastf	eed)		
Yes	1		1				
No	1.2 (0.98-1.44)	0.020	1.3 (1.06-1.62)	0.012			
Minimum meal f	requency for all 6	to 23 months child	lren (both breastfe	eed & non-breastfe	eed)		
Yes			1				
No			1.3 (1.05-1.51)	0.013			
Minimum accept	table diet for all 6 t	to 23 months child	ren (both breastfe	ed & non-breastfe	ed)		
Yes			1				
No			1.3 (1.06-1.67)	0.012			

Table 2: Association	between dietar	v intake and ເ	undernutrition of	under 2 children

Initially, the result of univariate analysis showed that MDD and MAD had significant association with stunting and underweight but MMF had significant association only with underweight. Detailed description of univariate analysis can be found in **annex 5.** After running multivariate analysis with all significant variables from univariate analysis, MDD showed significant association with stunting and

underweight. Those children who did not eat minimum 4 groups of food were 1.2 (95% CI [0.98-1.44], p=0.020) and 1.3 (95% CI [1.06-1.62], p=0.012) times likely to be stunted and underweight than those who ate minimum 4 groups of food. In addition, MMF and a MAD showed significant association with underweight. Children who did not have MMF were 1.3 (95% CI [1.05-1.51], p=0.013) times likely to be underweight compared to children who had MMF. Moreover, the chance of being underweight was 1.3 (95% CI [1.06-1.67], p=0.012) times higher among children who did not achieve a MAD compared to children who achieved a MAD.

#### 4.2.1.2 Health status or morbidity history of children

The prevalence of stunting and underweight were 45.1% and 33.2% among children with ARI. Children with diarrhoea had 42.4%, 37.2% and 22.6% of stunting, underweight and wasting respectively.

Variables	Total number (N)	% Stunted (n)	Total number	%	Total number (N)	% Wasted
			(N)	Underweight		(n)
				(n)		
ARI						
Yes	200	45.1% (90)	200	33.2% (66)	200	11.6% (23)
No	2728	33.9% (924)	2728	27.5% (750)	2728	15.6% (425)
Fever						
Yes	1275	36.8% (469)	1275	32.7% (404)	1275	16.8% (214)
No	1661	32.8% (545)	1661	25.0% (415)	1661	14.2% (237)
Diarrhoea						
Yes	196	42.4% (83)	196	37.2% (73)	196	22.6% (44)
No	2741	34.0% (932)	2741	27.2% (746)	2741	14.8% (407)
Univariate an	alysis					
Variable	Unadjusted OR	P-value	Unadjusted OR	P-value	Unadjusted OR	P-value
	(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for	
	stunting		underweight		wasting	
ARI					/	
Yes	1.6 (1.23-2.19)	0.001	1.3 (1.09-1.85)	0.037	0.7 (0.47-1.13)	0.166
No	1		1		1	
Fever						
Yes	1.2 (1.03-1.40)	0.016	1.4 (1.19-1.65)	0.000	1.1 (0.96-1.45)	0.099
No	1		1		1	
Diarrhoea						
Yes	1.2 (0.93-1.69)	0.123	1.6 (1.20-2.19)	0.001	1.6 (1.19-2.41)	0.003
No	1		1		1	
Multivariate a	nalysis					
Variable	Adjusted OR	P-value	Adjusted OR	P-value	Adjusted OR	P-value
	(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for	
	stunting		underweight		wasting	
ARI						
Yes	1.6 (1.13-2.17)	0.006				
No	1					
Fever						
Yes			1.2 (1.01-1.46)	0.035		
No			1			
Diarrhoea						
Yes					1.5 (1.06-2.22)	0.022
No					1	

Table 3: Association between morbidity history and undernutrition of children under 2 years of age

ARI and fever were significantly associated with stunting and underweight in univariate analysis. Diarrhoea showed significant association with underweight and wasting. (See **annex 5**). After controlling the potential confounders by using multivariate analysis, ARI only remained the significant risk factor for stunting. Children with ARI during last 2 weeks were 1.6 (95% CI [1.13-2.17], p=0.006) times likely to be stunted compared to the children who had no ARI. Fever showed significant association with underweight. Children with fever were 1.2 (95% CI [1.01-1.46], p=0.035) times more likely to be underweight than those children who had no fever. Children with diarrhoea were 1.5 (95% CI [1.06-2.22], p=0.022) times more likely to be wasted compared to their healthy counterpart.

#### 4.2.2 Underlying causes:

#### 4.2.2.1 Household food security

The prevalence of stunting, underweight and wasting was 47.7%, 46.7% and 21.8% among the moderate food insecure household.

Variables	Total number (N )	% Stunted (n)	Total Number (N)	% Underweight (n)	Total number (N)	% Wasted (n)
Food security						
Food secure	1919	31.2% (598)	1919	23.0% (441)	1919	14.1% (270)
Mild food insecure	761	39.3% (299)	761	34.6% (263)	761	16.5% (125)
Moderate food	213	47.7% (101)	213	46.7% (99)	213	21.8% (46)
insecure						
Severe food	35	40.1% (14)	35	36.1% (13)	35	24.3% (8)
insecure						
Univariate analysi	S					
Variable	Unadjusted OR	P-value	Unadjusted OR	P-value	Unadjusted OR	P-value
	(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for	
	stunting		underweight		wasting	
Household food sec	urity					
Food secure	1		1		1	
Mild food insecure	1.4 (1.23-1.76)	0.000	1.8 (1.53-2.27)	0.000	1.1 (0.88-1.43)	0.331
moderate food	2.3 (1.76-3.12)	0.000	2.8 (2.15-3.84)	0.000	1.5 (1.07-2.19)	0.019
insecure						
Severe food	1.1 (0.60-2.22)	0.654	1.5 (0.80-3.05)	0.185	1.4 (0.67-3.22)	0.332
insecure						
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.091	
Multivariate analy	rsis					
Variable	Adjusted OR	P-value	Adjusted OR	P-value	Adjusted OR	P-value
	(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for	
	stunting		underweight		wasting	
Food security						
Food secure	1		1			
Mild food insecure	1.1 (0.94-1.42)	0.164	1.3 (1.06-1.62)	0.011		
moderate food	1.4 (1.07-2.07)	0.018	1.4 (1.05-2.01)	0.024		
insecure						
Severe food	0.7 (0.3-1.4)	0.341	0.7 (0.36-1.55)	0.441		
insecure						
	P=0.049		P=0.014			

Table 4: Association of household food security and undernutrition of children under 2 years of age

In univariate analysis, household food security showed significant association stunting and underweight. (See **annex 5**). After running multivariate regression with all confounders, household food security showed significant association with stunting and underweight. The risk of being stunted was 1.4 (95% CI [1.07-2.07], p=0.018) times higher among the children whose household had moderate food insecurity compared to children whose household had food security. Children from mild and moderate insecure household were 1.3 (95% CI [1.06-1.62], p=0.011) and 1.4 (95% CI [1.05-2.01], p=0.024) times likely to be underweight compared to the children from food secure household.

#### 4.2.2.2 Care for women and children

Though we included the variables regarding feeding practices of child such as 1<sup>st</sup> hour initiation of breastfeeding after birth, continued breastfeeding at 1 year, introduction of complementary food at 6-8 months but in univariate analysis they showed the insignificant results.

Variables	Total number	% Stunted	Total number	% Underweight	Total number	% Wasted
Mother's age during	(N) shild birth	(11)	(1)	(11)	(1)	(11)
	88/	38.0% (336)	88/	20 0% (261)	88/	15.0% (1/1)
20 to 34 years	10/0	32.6% (636)	10/0	29.9% (204)	10/0	14.6% (285)
35 or above	103	<u>32.0% (030)</u> <u>41.1% (42)</u>	103	<u>20.3% (312)</u> <u>A1 1% (A2)</u>	103	24.6% (283)
Birth order	105	41.1/6 (42)	105	41.1/0 (42)	105	24.0% (23)
1 <sup>st</sup> child	1061	33 1% (351)	1061	24.6% (261)	1061	14 7%(156)
$2^{nd}$ to $4^{th}$ child	1637	33.7% (551)	1637	27.6% (452)	1637	15.2%(249)
5 <sup>th</sup> or above	238	47.2% (112)	238	44.2% (105)	238	19.3%(46)
Mothers' BMI						
<18	665	41.9% (278)	665	40.6%(270)	665	22.0%(146)
18 to 25	1986	34.4% (683)	1986	25.5%(507)	1986	13.8%(274)
Above 25	275	18.5% (51)	275	13.2%(36)	275	9.3%(26)
Prelacteal feeding						
Yes	1039	37.6%(391)	1039	29.4% (305)	1039	15.6%(162)
No	1831	32.9% (603)	1831	26.5% (486)	1831	14.5% (265)
Univariate analysis						
Variable	Unadjusted OR	P-value	Unadjusted OR	P-value	Unadjusted OR	P-value
	(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for	
	stunting		underweight		wasting	
Mother's age during o	child birth		4			
<20 years	1	0.004	1	0.070	1	0 = 40
20 to 34 years	0.7 (0.64-0.89)	0.001	0.8 (0.71-1.01)	0.079	0.9 (0.77-1.20)	0.748
35 or above	1.1 (0.74-1.67)	0.587	1.8 (1.22-2.74)	0.004	1.5 (0.91-2.46)	0.107
	P=0.002		P=0.000		P=0.188	
Birth order						
1 <sup>st</sup> child	1		1		1	
2 <sup>nd</sup> to 4 <sup>th</sup> child	1.0 (0.85-1.18)	0.903	1.1 (0.95-1.35)	0.158	0.9 (0.76-1.18)	0.648
5 <sup>°°</sup> or above	1.5 (1.14-2.03)	0.004	2.1 (1.61-2.90)	0.000	1.2 (0.86-1.81)	0.234
	P=0.009		P=0.000		P=0.188	
Mothers' BMI						
<18	1.3 (1.16-1.66)	0.000	1.9 (1.58-2.29)	0.000	1.5 (1.23-1.94)	0.000
18 to 25	1		1		1	
Above 25	0.4 (0.31-0.58)	0.000	0.4 (0.31-0.63)	0.000	0.6 (0.39-0.91)	0.018

Table 5: Association of care practices for women and children with undernutrition of children under 2 years of age

	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.000	
Prelacteal feeding						
Yes	1.2 (1.04-1.44)	0.011	1.1 (0.97-1.36)	0.105	1.0 (0.88-1.35)	0.418
No	1		1		1	
Multivariate analysis						
Variable	Adjusted OR (95% CI) for stunting	P-value	Adjusted OR (95% CI) for underweight	P-value	Adjusted OR (95% CI) for wasting	P-value
Mother's BMI						
<18	1.1 (0.83-1.25)	0.806	1.4 (1.15-1.73)	0.001	1.4 (1.11-1.81)	0.004
18 to 25	1		1		1	
Above 25	0.5 (0.37-0.75)	0.000	0.6 (0.42-0.93)	0.021	0.6 (0.42-1.06)	0.092
	P=0.002		P=0.000		P=0.002	
Prelacteal feeding						
Yes	1.2 (1.03-1.47)	0.021				
No	1					

In univariate analysis, mother's age at child birth and birth order were significantly associated with stunting and underweight. Mother's BMI showed significant association with all three types of undernutrition. Prelacteal feeding was associated only with stunting. (See **annex 5**). But after controlling all confounders, only mother's BMI showed significant association with all types of undernutrition. For stunting, mother's high BMI showed as a protective factor. Children whose mothers had high BMI were 50% less likely to be stunted than children whose mothers had normal BMI. In addition, children whose mother had low BMI were 1.4 (95% CI [1.15-1.73], p=0.001) times higher risk of being underweight compared to children whose mother had normal BMI. Moreover, the risk of children being wasted was 1.4 (95% CI [1.11-1.81], p=0.004) times higher among the children whose mothers had low BMI compared to children whose mother had normal BMI. Prelacteal feed showed significant association with stunting. Children who were fed prelacteal feed were 1.2 (95% CI [1.03-1.47], p=0.021) times more likely to be stunted compared to children who were not fed prelacteal feed.

#### 4.2.2.3 Environmental factors and utilization of health services

The prevalence of stunting, underweight and wasting were 35.7%, 32.5% and 16.8% respectively among children with no toilet facilities.

1						
Variables	Total number (N)	% Stunted (n)	Total number (N)	% Underweight (n)	Total number (N)	% Wasted (n)
Toilet facility						
Flush latrine	393	29.0% (114)	393	16.5% (65)	393	10.9% (43)
Pit latrine	1870	35.3% (660)	1870	28.3% (530)	1870	15.2% (285)
No	661	35.7% (236)	661	32.5% (215)	661	16.8% (111)
facility/others						
Source of drinkin	g water					
Pipe water	270	29.6% (80)	270	17.8% (48)	270	13.3% (36)
Tube well	2234	36.2% (809)	2234	29.5% (685)	2234	15.2% (339)
water						
Others	420	18.8% (121)	420	24.8% (104)	420	15.2% (64)
Place of delivery						
Home	2048	37.7% (773)	2048	32.2%(659)	2048	17.1%(350)

# Table 6: Association of environmental factors and utilization of health services with undernutrition of under 2 years children

Hospital	889	27.2% (242)	889	18.0%(160)	889	11.4%(101)
Mother's ANC v	isits					
No visit	919	40.7% (374)	919	38.2%(351)		18.9% (174)
1 to3	1192	30.9% (368)	1192	24.7%(295)		15.1%(180)
4 to 6	518	34.2% (177)	518	21.1%(109)		13.5%(70)
7 or above	264	29.0% (77)	264	16.7%(44)		7.7%(20)
Univariate anal	ysis					
Variable	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI)	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI)	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI)
Toilet facility						
Flush latrine	1		1		1	
Pit latrine	1.3 (1.05-1.69)	0.017	1.9 (1.50-2.65)	0.000	1.4 (1.04-2.05)	0.029
No	1.3 (1.03-1.78)	0.026	2.4 (1.78-3.32)	0.000	1.6 (1.12-2.39)	0.010
facility/others						
	P=0.046		P=0.000		P=0.034	
Source of drinki	ng water					
Pipe water	1		1		1	
Tube well	1.3 (1.02-1.77)	0.033	1.9 (1.39-2.67)	0.000	1.1 (0.80-1.68)	0.424
water						
Others	0.9 (0.68-1.34)	0.817	1.5 (1.03-2.23)	0.031	1.5 (1.03-2.23)	0.488
	P=0.003		P=0.000		P=0.720	
Place of deliver	y					
Home	1.7 (1.44-2.03)	0.000	2.0 (1.69-2.45)	0.000	0.4 (1.17-1.84)	0.001
Hospital	1		1		1	
Mother's ANC v	risits					
No visit	1		1		1	
1 to3	0.6 (0.53-0.76)	0.000	0.5 (0.42-0.61)	0.000	0.6 (0.52-0.83)	0.001
4 to 6	0.7 (0.58-0.90)	0.005	0.4 (0.33-0.54)	0.000	0.6 (0.48-0.86)	0.004
7 or above	0.5 (0.38-0.69)	0.000	0.3 (0.22-0.44)	0.000	0.4 (0.26-0.62)	0.000
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.000	
Multivariate an	alysis					
Variable	Adjusted OR (95% CI) for stunting	P-value	Adjusted OR (95% CI) for underweight	P-value	Adjusted OR (95% CI) for wasting	P-value
Mother's ANC visits						
No visit	1		1			
1 to3 visits	0.8 (0.66-1.02)	0.078	0.7 (0.58-0.91)	0.005		
4 to 6 visits	0.8 (0.90-1.57)	0.220	0.8 (0.62-1.12)	0.230		
7 and above	0.8 (0.59-1.22)	0.400	0.6 (0.45-0.99)	0.047		
	P=0.015		P=0.029			

In univariate analysis, toilet facilities, place delivery and mother's ANC visits were the significant determinants for stunting, underweight and wasting. Source of drinking water showed significant association with stunting and underweight. (See **annex 5**). But after running multivariate analysis, only mother's ANC visits showed significant association with stunting and underweight. For stunting, overall ANC visits appear to leave a significant protective effect but results are difficult to interpret as individual p-values are not significant. The likelihood of being underweight was 0.7 (95% CI [0.58-0.91], p=0.005) and 0.6 (95% CI [0.45-0.99], p=0.047) times lower among children whose mother had 1 to 3 ANC visits and 7 and above ANC visits compared to children whose mothers had no visit.
# 4.2.3 Basic causes

# 4.2.3.1 Socio-demographic factors

In univariate regression sex of the child showed insignificant association. Highest percentages of stunted, underweight and wasted children were lived in Sylhet district.

Variables	Total number	% Stunted	Total number (N)	%	Total number	% Wasted (n)
	(N)	(n)		Underweight	(N)	
_				(n)		
Region						
Chittagong	711	28.8% (205)	711	27.8% (197)	711	15.9% (113)
Barisal	154	38.7 % (60)	154	31.3% (48)	154	15.4% (24)
Chittagong	711	28.8% (205)	711	27.8% (197)	711	15.9% (113)
Dhaka	890	37.0% (330)	890	28.1% (250)	890	17.5% (155)
Khulna	286	31.4% (90)	286	18.2% (52)	286	10.0 % (29)
Rajshahi	386	31.8% (123)	386	27.3% (105)	386	14.6% (56)
Rangpur	299	41.0% (123)	299	28.1% (84)	299	10.5 % (31)
Sylhet	211	40.4% (85)	211	38.9% (82)	211	20.1% (42)
Type of place of	f residence					
Urban	660	31.1% (205)	660	18.3% (121)	660	12.3% (81)
Rural	2277	35.6% (809)	2277	30.7%(698)	2277	16.2 %(370)
Age of child in n	nonths					
0-5 months	687	17.7% (121)	687	15.9%(109)	687	15.4% (107)
6-11 months	810	22.4% (181)	810	23.7%(192)	810	14.4%(117)
12-17 months	779	46.8% (364)	779	33.3% (259)	779	14.8% (115)
18-23 months	661	52.6% (347)	661	39.1%(109)	661	16.9%(112)
Father's educat	ion					
No education	777	40.0% (311)	777	37.7% (293)	777	19.6%(152)
Primary	886	40.6% (360)	886	32.9% (291)	886	16.3%(144)
Secondary	1272	27.0% (344)	1272	18.5% (235)	1272	12.2%(155)
and above						
Father's occupa	tion					
Agricultural	841	43.3% (364)	841	38.3% (322)	841	18.5% (156)
Non-	2021	31.4% (634)	2021	23.9%( 483)	2021	13.9% (280)
agricultural						
Others	59	24.6% (15)	59	22.8%(14)	59	25.1% (15)
Access to media	a					
Yes	1907	30.7%(586)	1907	22.3% (425)	1907	12.7% (242)
No	1017	41.7%(424)	1017	37.9% (385)	1017	19.4% (197)
Mother's educa	ition					
None	480	44.2% (212)	480	41.7% (200)	480	19.9% (96)
Primary	883	37.4% (330)	883	34.7% (306)	883	19.1% (169)
Secondary or	1574	30.0 %(472)	1574	19.8% (312)	1574	11.9% (187)
above						
Wealth quintile						
Poorest	641	45.5% (292)	641	45.2%(290)	641	20.0% (128)
Poorer	594	38.2% (227)	594	33.0% (196)	594	15.6% (93)
Middle	582	32.8% (191)	582	27.3%(159)	582	17.8%(103)
Richer	597	30.9%(185)	597	16.8% (100)	597	11.0%(66)
Richest	522	23.0% (120)	522	14.1% (73)	522	11.6%(61)
1						

Table 7: Association of socio-demographic factors and undernutrition of children under 2 years of age

Univariate anal	ysis					
Variable	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for stunting	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for underweight	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for wasting	P-value
Region						
Chittagong	1		1		1	
Barisal	1.3 (1.03-1.83)	0.030	1.1 (0.86-1.58)	0.298	0.9 (0.65-1.39)	0.797
Dhaka	1.3 (1.07-1.78)	0.012	1.0 (0.765-1.31)	0.994	1.1 (0.81-1.55)	0.469
Khulna	1.1 (0.84-1.48)	0.424	0.5 (0.43-0.81)	0.001	0.5 (0.39-0.89)	0.013
Rajshahi	1.0 (0.75-1.33)	0.968	0.8 (0.64-1.16)	0.345	0.9 (0.67-1.37)	0.839
Rangpur	1.6 (1.27-2.19)	0.000	0.9 (0.74-1.32)	0.950	0.5 (0.39-0.89)	0.014
Sylhet	1.4 (1.09-1.84)	0.008	1.5 (1.20-2.03)	0.001	1.3 (0.96-1.83)	0.081
	P=0.001		P=0.000		P=0.001	
Place of resider	ice					
Urban	1		1		1	
Rural	1.2 (1.07-1.50)	0.005	1.6 (1.40-2.02)	0.000	1.2 (1.01-1.59)	0.038
Age of child						
0-5 months	1		1		1	
6-11 months	1.4 (1.09-1.83)	0.007	1.7 (1.34-2.27)	0.000	0.9 (0.71-1.29)	0.799
12-17 months	4.1 (3.23-5.27)	0.000	2.5 (1.95-3.27)	0.000	1.0 (0.74-1.34)	0.983
18-23 months	4.9 (3.85-6.35)	0.000	3.4 (2.66-4.47)	0.000	1.2 (0.94-1.69)	0.119
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.219	
Father's educat	ion					
None	1.8 (1.55-2.27)	0.000	2.5 (2.08-3.13)	0.000	1.6 (1.28-2.11)	0.000
Primary	1.8 (1.56-2.24)	0.000	2.0 (1.70-2.52)	0.000	1.3 (1.04-1.69)	0.023
Secondary and above	1		1		1	
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.000	
Father's occupa	ition					
Agricultural	1		1		1	
Non-	0.6 (0.52-0.74)	0.000	0.5 (0.47-0.67)	0.000	0.7 (0.60-0.94)	0.014
agricultural						
Others	0.4 (0.27-0.87)	0.017	0.5 (0.28-0.96)	0.039	1.1 (0.60-2.24)	0.652
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.029	
Access to any t	ype of media					
Yes	1		1		1	
No	1.6 (1.37-1.88)	0.000	2.1 (1.79-2.50)	0.000	1.6 (1.34-2.03)	0.000
Mother's educa	ition					
None	1.9 (1.58-2.42)	0.000	2.7 (2.20-3.44)	0.000	1.7 (1.28-2.24)	0.000
Primary	1.4 (1.21-1.72)	0.000	2.1 (1.78-2.58)	0.000	1.6 (1.31-2.07)	0.000
Secondary or	1		1		1	
above						
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.000	
Wealth quintile	;					
Poorest	3.0 (2.38-3.93)	0.000	4.5 (3.43-5.99)	0.000	1.7 (1.20-2.29)	0.002
Poorer	2.2 (1.71-2.86)	0.000	2.9 (2.18-3.87)	0.000	1.4 (0.96-1.90)	0.077
Middle	1.7 (1.31-2.21)	0.000	2.2 (1.64-2.94)	0.000	1.5 (1.09-2.11)	0.013
Richer	1.5 (1.18-1.99)	0.001	1.2 (0.92-1.71)	0.145	0.9 (0.69-1.39)	0.932
Richest	1		1		1	
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.002	

Multivariate a	analysis					
Variable	Adjusted OR (95% CI) for stunting	P-value	Adjusted OR (95% CI) for underweight	P-value	Adjusted OR (95% CI) for wasting	P-value
Region						
Chittagong	1		1		1	
Barisal	1.2 (0.91-1.72	0.156	0.9 (0.72-1.37)	0.982	0.8 (0.60-1.32)	0.592
Dhaka	1.4 (1.07-1.87)	0.012	0.9 (0.67-1.20)	0.477	1.0 (0.78-1.52)	0.579
Khulna	1.2 (0.90-1.66)	0.195	0.6 (0.44-0.87)	0.007	0.6 (0.41-0.95)	0.029
Rajshahi	0.8 (0.65-1.21)	0.455	0.7 (0.51-0.98)	0.039	0.9 (0.63-1.32)	0.642
Rangpur	1.4 (1.09-1.99)	0.011	0.7 (0.52-0.985)	0.040	0.5 (0.35-0.83)	0.005
Sylhet	1.4 (1.07-1.91)	0.014	1.3 (1.00-1.79)	0.049	1.1 (0.78-1.53)	0.590
	P=0.001		P=0.000		P=0.010	
Age of the child	1					
0-5 months	1		1			
6-11 months	1.3 (1.03-1.76)	0.027	1.6 (1.24-2.17)	0.000		
12-17 months	4.3 (3.39-5.65)	0.000	2.6 (2.04-3.53)	0.000		
18-23 months	5.0 (3.91-6.57)	0.000	3.5 (2.69-4.67)	0.000		
	P=0.007		P=0.000			
Father's educat	ion					
None	1.1 (0.85-1.44)	0.415				
Primary	1.3 (1.10-1.70)	0.004				
Secondary and above	1					
	P=0.011					
Access to media	a					
Yes					1	
No					1.3 (1.02-1.69)	0.030
Mother's educa	ation					
None			1.3 (1.00-1.84)	0.044		
Primary			1.3 (1.09-1.70)	0.006		
Secondary			1			
and above						
			P=0.018			
Wealth quintile	2					
Poorest	2.4 (1.59-3.63)	0.001	2.3 (1.57-3.46)	0.000		
Poorer	1.9 (1.33-2.88)	0.000	1.7 (1.19-2.51)	0.004		
Middle	1.7 (1.19-2.44)	0.001	1.5 (1.12-2.23)	0.009		
Richer	1.6 (1.20-2.28)	0.003	1.0 (0.73-1.42)	0.903		
Richest	1		1			
	P=0.001		P=0.000			

Region, types of area, father's education, father's occupation, access to media, mother's education, and wealth quintile showed significant risk factors for stunting, underweight and wasting in univariate analysis. But age of child showed insignificant association with wasting. (See **annex 5**). After running multivariate regression, region showed significant association with stunting, underweight and wasting. Dhaka, Rangpur and Sylhet division's children had the 40% higher risk to be stunted than Chittagong division's children. The risk of being underweight was 40% and 30% lower among the children from Khulna and Rajshahi divisions compared to children from Chittagong division. In addition, children from Sylhet divisions were 1.3 (95% CI [1.00-1.79], p=0.049) times more likely to be underweight compared to

children from Chittagong division. Moreover, children from Rangpur and Dhaka division were 50% and 40% less likely to be wasted than children from Chittagong division.

Multivariate result showed that the risk of being undernourished increases with increase of age. Age of child showed significant risk factor for stunting and underweight. Children in age categories of 18-23 months, 12-17 months and 6-11 months had 5.0 (95% CI [3.91-6.57], p=0.000), 4.3 (95% CI [3.39-5.65], p=0.000), and 1.3 (95% CI [1.03-1.76], p=0.027) times higher risk to be stunted compared to the children of under 6 months. In addition, the likelihood of being underweight was 3.5 (95% CI [2.69-4.67], p=0.000), 2.6 (95% CI [2.04-3.53], p=0.000) and 1.6 (95% CI [1.24-2.17], p=0.000) times higher among the children whose age were 18-23 months, 12-17 months and 6-11 months respectively compared to children whose age was <6 months. But it did not show any significant association with wasting.

Father's education had a significant effect on the chronic malnutrition of the child. Children whose fathers had primary educated were 1.3 (95% CI [1.10-1.70], p=0.004) times higher risk to be stunted compared to children whose father had secondary or higher level of education. It had no significant association with underweight and wasting.

Children whose mothers had no media exposures were 1.3 (95% CI [1.02-1.69], p=0.030) times more likely to be wasted compared to children whose mothers had media exposure. Exposure to media was not a risk factor for stunting and underweight.

In multivariate analysis, mother's education was a significant determinant for underweight. Children whose mother had no education and primary educated both were 1.3 (95% CI [1.00-1.84], p=0.044 & 95% CI [1.00-1.84], p=0.006) times more likely to be underweight than children whose mother had secondary or higher education. It showed insignificant association with stunting and wasting.

After running multivariate analysis and controlling confounders, wealth quintile showed significant result with stunting and underweight. Compare to wealthiest household, children from poorest, poorer and middle household had 2.4 (95% CI [1.59-3.63], p=0.001), 1.9 (95% CI [1.33-2.88], p=0.000), and 1.7 (95% CI [1.19-2.44], p=0.001) times higher risk of stunting. In addition, children who lived in poorest, poorer and middle wealth quintile had 2.3 (95% CI [1.57-3.46], p=0.000), 1.7 (95% CI [1.19-2.51], p=0.004) and 1.5 (95% CI [1.12-2.23], p=0.009) times more risk to be underweight compared to children who lived in richest wealth quintile.

# **Chapter 5: Discussion**

This chapter is going to discuss the key determinants for undernutrition in context of Bangladesh based on the analysis and how government can address those determinants for improving the nutrition status of under 2 children.

# 5.1 Key determinants for undernutrition

# 5.1.1 Immediate cause

# 5.1.1.1 Dietary intake

# MDD

Evidence showed that 6-23 months of age is the most vulnerable period for child growth and development.<sup>61</sup> During this time only breast milk is not enough to fulfill the nutrient requirements and a child must be effectively shifted from only breast milk to a combination of nutritious complementary food or family food and breast milk. So, this period is vulnerable for IYCF practices also. Multivariate results showed that children who did not eat minimum 4 groups of food were 1.2 and 1.3 times more likely to be stunted and underweight than children who ate minimum 4 groups of food. It indicates that eating diversified diet during 6-23 months is positively associated with the growth of the child. Diversified diet provides the required nutrient for growth and development of a child and helps to build up the immunity. So, children who eat diversified diet have less risk to be stunted and underweight than children thing also reflected in this study. A Bangladeshi study analyzed nationally representative data also found the similar result.<sup>35</sup> Other studies also mentioned that diversified diet act as a protective factor against stunting<sup>62,63,64</sup> and underweight<sup>52,65</sup>.

Surprisingly in our study exclusive breastfeeding under 6 months of age did not show any association with undernutrition in context of Bangladesh. Possible explanation could be in Bangladesh exclusive breastfeeding rate among children under 6 months of age has increased to sufficiently high levels that it no longer plays a significant role in determining whether a child becomes malnourished or not.

# MMF

Evidence showed that frequent feeding in a day improves the nutritional status of a child.<sup>66</sup> After 6 months of age breast milk is not enough for the infant so they need nutrient dense frequent meal to fulfill their nutritional requirement. After controlling all confounders, this study result found that the prevalence of underweight was 1.3 times higher among the children (aged 6 to 23 months) who did not achieve MMF compared to children who achieved MMF. Children need extra calorie but their stomach is small so they need frequent meal for their proper growth and development. If they do not get age appropriate frequent meal then undernutrition starts to develop. As expected this study also indicated the same fact. Study finding suggests that age appropriate frequent meal can prevent underweight. Different studies also found the similar result.<sup>52,65</sup>

# MAD

MAD, a composite indicator derived from both MDD and MMF, was associated with underweight of the children. The risk of being underweight was 1.3 times higher among the children who did not achieve a

MAD compared to children who achieved a MAD. Inadequate intake of MAD may be made them susceptible for growth faltering so they became underweight. The study results indicate that not only diversified diet but also age appropriate frequent meal is necessary for the proper growth and development of a child. This study yielded consistent results with a study conducted in India.<sup>65</sup>

# 5.1.1.2 Health status or morbidity history

# ARI

This study suggested that ARI had significant association with stunting. After running multivariate analysis, children who suffered from ARI showed 1.6 times higher risk of developing stunting than children without ARI. This study result corresponds to other studies.<sup>52,53</sup> Children who suffer from respiratory infection have a tendency to avoid food intakes or have a lower frequency and quantity of food intakes. There is a possibility that those children who affected by ARI were already immuno-compromised due to inadequate food intake. So, in presence of ARI along with low food intakes they became susceptible to stunting. Poor treatment seeking behabiour of the parents could be another reason which helped to the development of stunting as only 35% of the children with ARI received treatment from a medically trained provider in Bangladesh.<sup>1</sup>

## Fever

After adjusting the effect of confounders, children who had fever were 1.2 times more likely to be underweight compared to the children who had no fever. This result indicates that children with disease are more vulnerable to development of underweight than their healthy counterparts. Our study found consistent result with other studies.<sup>52,67</sup> Children usually avoid food intakes or take less amount of foods during fever. Avoid or reduce food intakes, inadequate supply of nutrient rich diet, inadequate care from parents and lack of treatment during disease condition may be the factors interplayed in the development of underweight among our study population.

#### Diarrhoea

In this study, the highest rate of diarrhoea was present among malnourished children which indicate the vicious cycle of malnutrition-infection interaction. After controlling cofounders, diarrhoea showed significant association only with wasting. Study findings illustrated that children with diarrhoea had 1.5 times more risk to be wasted than healthy children. This study result is consistent with the other studies. <sup>47,67,68</sup> It indicates that acute malnutrition (wasting) can be developed quickly by presence of diarrhoea or other infections. Diarrhoea may be reduced food intake or lost the body weight which helped to develop wasting among children. Lack of treatment during diarrhoea could be another reason as only 25% of the children with diarrhoea received treatment<sup>1</sup> in Bangladesh from a medically trained provider.

# 5.1.2 Underlying causes

# 5.1.2.1 Household food security

Household food insecurity which is closely related with poverty was significantly associated with stunting and underweight. In this present study, children from moderate food insecure household were 1.4 times more likely to be stunted and underweight than children from food secure household. Severe household food insecurity showed lower odds than food secure household for both types of

malnutrition. Small number of sample size in that group or information bias may be the possible explanation of that. This study suggests that children from food insecure household have higher chance to be undernourished than food secure household. Food insecure household usually have food which is low in quantity and quality. Food insecurity can reduce adequate food consumption, intake of diversified diet and nutrient intake which may have a negative impact on the growth and development of children. This study reflected the same thing. This study result corresponds to other studies which also showed that food insecurity is closely related with undernutrition.<sup>55,69,70</sup>

# 5.1.2.2 Care for women and children

# Mother's BMI

Mother's BMI showed significant association with stunting, underweight and wasting. Children whose mothers had low BMI were 1.4 times higher risk of being underweight and wasted than children whose mother had normal BMI. Among all underlying causes maternal undernutrition is a complex one. Maternal undernutrition is rooted with poverty, social deprivation and gender norms of the society. Early marriage, frequent child birth, low access to health care, intra-household food distribution in a male dominated family, all these factors together contributes to the development of maternal malnutrition. Undernourished mothers usually give birth to low weight babies and probably cannot provide adequate breast milk and care to their babies, which can have an effect on the undernutrition of their child. This study finding is similar to other studies which also showed that maternal malnutrition is a risk factor for stunting<sup>41,42, 45, 47,56,57,58,71</sup>, underweight<sup>46,42,47,52</sup> and wasting<sup>42,46,47,53</sup>.

## **Prelacteal feeding**

In this study, prelacteal feeding which is a social norm in Bangladesh showed significant association with chronic undernutrition. Study result revealed that children who received other liquid within 1<sup>st</sup> three days after birth had 1.2 times more likely to be stunted than children who did not receive other liquid. Similar findings also found in other studies.<sup>60,55</sup> Actually, giving prelacteal foods immediately after birth limits the frequency of suckling by the infant, the release of prolactin and the production of mother's milk. In addition, prelacteal feeding exposes infants to different kinds of gastrointestinal infection. In a long run these children have shorter duration of breastfeeding and they are early exposed to semisolid or solid food. Shorter duration of breastfeeding, early introduction of semisolid or solid food, and exposure to different kinds of infection makes them susceptible for undernutrition. The same thing may be happened with our study population. This study suggests that prelacteal feeding is a significant risk factor for undernutrition.

# 5.1.2.3 Environmental factors and utilization of health services Mother's ANC visits

Mother's ANC visit is an important determinant and showed significant association with stunting and underweight. After controlling confounders, children whose mothers had 1 to 3 ANC visits and 7 and above ANC visits were 30% and 40% less risk to be underweight than children whose mothers had no ANC visits. It indicates that proper care of mother has a positive impact on the nutritional status of their children. Growth and development of a child starts to develop from pregnancy. Proper ANC services of mothers like dietary advice, micronutrient supplementation and treatment for preexisting medical

conditions during pregnancy can influence the birth outcomes of their child. Mothers who get ANC services gather different knowledge on complication, breastfeeding practices, child and maternal nutrition, and child care which may have positive effects on nutritional status of their child. This study also reflected the same thing. Like this study, other studies also found that children were less likely to be stunted<sup>42,57,55</sup> and underweight<sup>42,52,55</sup> if their mother had ANC visits.

#### Water and sanitation facilities

Surprisingly, toilet facilities and source of drinking water did not show any association with any types of undernutrition. This could probably mean that these factors were influenced by others factors such as wealth, parents education; diminishing the effect of these factors on undernutrition. These may also be indicators which are not sufficiently representative of true environmental hygiene, as source of water does not reflect the amount available and whether hand washing is done or not.

#### 5.1.3 Basic causes

#### 5.1.3.1 Socio-demographic factors

#### Region

A significant regional difference was observed in the level of undernutrition. The likelihood of a child being chronically stunting was highest in Sylhet, Rangpur and Dhaka division while it was lowest in Rajshahi division. Other studies in Bangladesh found the similar result.<sup>41,45,56</sup> In addition, prevalence of underweight was highest in Sylhet division whereas it was lowest in Khulna division. Both stunting and underweight were more prevalent in Sylhet division. Regional variations in the nutritional status of children can be influenced by the differences in socio-economic status, social security, poor accessibility of education and health services for mother and child. This study also reflected the same thing.<sup>1</sup> Because IYCF practices, immunization coverage, education status of women, utilization of health care services-all conditions are poor in Sylhet division compared to other divisions.<sup>1</sup>

#### Age of child

This study result indicated that the risk of being undernourished increased significantly with increase age. Children aged 18 to 23 months were 5 and 3.5 times more likely to be stunted and underweight than children <6 months of age. Prevalence of malnutrition among children <6 months is usually less due to the protective effect of breastfeeding. But after 6 months malnutrition gradually increase because of inappropriate feeding practices. If children do not get proper complementary feeding then they become nutrient deficient. In addition, contaminated food or inadequate hygiene practice during this time makes them more susceptible to diarrhoea or other infections. All these factors might be interplayed in the development of undernutrition among our study population. As like this study, other studies in Bangladesh and other developing countries also found that risk of being stunted<sup>41,45,72,73</sup> and underweight<sup>47,52,72,74</sup> increased with age.

#### **Father's education**

Although many studies all over the world showed mother's education is an important predictor for chronic undernutrition but our study showed that in context of Bangladesh father's education even

more important determinant for chronic malnutrition than mother's education. Children whose fathers had primary education were 1.3 times more likely to be stunted than children whose father had higher education. Several studies in Bangladesh found the similar findings.<sup>42,44,41,45</sup> This study results suggest that the risk of being stunted decreases with increasing fathers education. The growth of infants and young child related with their socio-economic condition. In Bangladesh father's education is closely related with household economic condition because father is the predominant earner in a family. This study indicates the fact that fathers who are more educated their children have more access to nutritious food, better access to essential health care, better living standard and lesser chance to be undernourished.

#### Access to media

Access to media showed significant association with acute undernutrition. Children whose mother had no exposure to any type of media were 1.3 times more likely to be wasted than children whose mother had exposure to media. This is similar to the findings of the study done analyzing the 1999 to 2000 DHS data, which found that children were 2.5 times more likely to be severely wasted if their mother had no exposure to media.<sup>53</sup> This could be due to the fact that economically better off and educated women have exposure to the media and they can thereby gather information about child feeding, immunization, and child care etc.

#### Mother's education

Underweight is a composite index of stunting and wasting. Thus, it is difficult to distinguish whether it is acute malnutrition or chronic malnutrition. This study showed that mother's education is an important predictor for underweight. Children whose mothers had no education and primary education were 1.3 times more likely to be underweight than children whose mothers had higher education. Previously many studies showed the same findings.<sup>42,52,47,75,76</sup> Mother's education is more important for child health because educated mothers are knowledgeable and they can make better choices regarding their child's health and nutrition. They can choose proper feeding practices, make better use of health services, provide better care, and have better hygiene practices for their child. This may be the case in our study.

#### Wealth index

After controlling the potential confounders, wealth quintile showed significant association with stunting and underweight. This study findings showed that chronic undernutrition is a critical problem in Bangladesh and children in poorest household were at more than twice (2.4) and children in the poorer household almost twice (1.9) the risk of being stunted than children from the richest household. This study result corresponds to the other studies.<sup>42,41,45,47,77,78</sup> On the other hand, the risk of being underweight was also highest in children of poorest (2.3) and poorer (1.7) household compared to children of the richest household. Studies in Bangladesh and other developing countries found the similar results.<sup>42,52,47,73</sup> The rich families can allocate more resources for their children and allocation of more resources bring better health outcomes for their children. This study indicates that children who live in poor household have less access to nutritious food, greater exposure to infection, lack of access to basic health care services and higher risk to be undernourished.

# 5.2 The way forward

From the above discussion, we see that inadequate dietary intake, morbidity of children, household food insecurity, inadequate care for women and children, low utilization of health services and sociodemographic conditions like region, age of the child, father's education, access to media, mother's education, and poverty were significantly contributing to the development of undernutrition among children under 2 years of age in Bangladesh. It is now essential to implement effective intervention on the priority basis to tackle these determinants in order to improve the nutrition situation of under 2 children in the country. This section attempts to find out solution in regard to mitigate those determinants. Some cross cutting issues will be discussed together.

Inadequate dietary intake due to improper feeding practices (also called IYCF practices) was associated with undernutrition of children in Bangladesh. Though the country has a good national IYCF policy in place and but the implementation is not satisfactory. WHO showed through a scoring system that in Bangladesh large scale intervention activities are needed for the implementation of national IYCF strategy<sup>79</sup> (see **annex 6**). Though exclusive breastfeeding is in rising trend but we need to maintain and upgrade that trend otherwise situation will be worsen again. Evidence showed that training of the health care provider<sup>80</sup>, breastfeeding counseling and support by the community health worker<sup>81</sup>, and peer counseling in the community<sup>82,83,84</sup> is highly effective to improve the exclusive breastfeeding status. So, government can implement these interventions to further improvement of exclusive breastfeeding. A systematic review<sup>85</sup> reported that maternal counseling and community based health education programme can improve child growth through improving complementary feeding practices and this intervention can significantly reduce the undernutrition in developing countries. In Bangladesh HAs who are already involved for domiciliary visit and different media can be used for health education session, cooking demonstration, and counseling for mothers. A&T in collaboration with BRAC is implementing intensive community based interventions and national media campaign for promotion of IYCF practices.<sup>86</sup> Government can collaborate with them for national level promotion of IYCF practices. Evidence showed that micronutrient like vitamin A and iron (micronutrient) supplementation is highly effective in reducing mortality and anemia among under 2 children.<sup>87,88</sup> Government can integrate micronutrient supplementation with expanded programme of immunization (EPI).

Morbidity of children was strongly correlated with the development of undernutrition of under 2 children. Possible solution can be Integrated Management of Childhood Illnesses (IMCI) strategy developed by WHO as it encompasses a range of interventions that combines prevention and better management of childhood illness. IMCI evaluation in different countries showed that it can reduces mortality, improve health service quality and health care cost saving.<sup>89, 90</sup> Bangladesh government adopted integrated management of Childhood Illness (IMCI) strategy since 1998. But facility based IMCI and community based IMCI is now running only in 395 and 63 upazilas respectively out of 482 upazilas which is inadequate to cover the whole population.<sup>91</sup> Government can expand this programme all over the country to prevent and manage common childhood diseases. Evidence showed that Facility based management of SAM according to WHO protocol is highly effective and high rate of survival can be achieved by improving staff training and quality in resource poor setting.<sup>92</sup> Integrated management of SAM child is already under the IMCI. Training can be given all health workers on integrated management

of SAM child by using WHO guidelines. Evidence showed that community based management of SAM is highly effective in resource poor setting.<sup>93</sup> Government can adopt this strategy in context of Bangladesh.

Diarrhoea, an immediate cause, was associated with acute malnutrition. Though Bangladesh government has adopted a water and sanitation policy and strategic plan since 1998 (approved by LGRD&Co ministry) but the implementation of this policy is very weak in the field level.<sup>94,95</sup> Evidence showed that in developing countries including Bangladesh different interventions like education on hygiene, sanitation and hand washing promotion with soap or without soap can significantly reduces the incidence of diarrhoea.<sup>96,97,98,</sup> All these interventions could be integrated with the LGRD&Co's existing interventions.

Poverty and household food insecurity were the two important factors were associated with child undernutrition in Bangladesh. Though government has placed elimination of poverty and inequality as one of the prime strategy but still one third of people live under poverty line. For eradication of poverty government along with donor and NGOs is already running some social safety net intervention such as Food for Works (FFW) Programme, Vulnerable Group Feeding (VGF) programme to eradicate poverty and household food insecurity. Evidence showed this programme has positive effect on eradication of poverty and food insecurity.<sup>99</sup> Recently Bangladesh bureau of statistics (BBS) with help of WFP and World Bank updated poverty map of Bangladesh.<sup>100</sup> Government can expand these poverty elimination programmes in the area where poverty and food insecurity are most prevalent by using the poverty map. Ministry of LGRD&Co and agriculture in collaboration with WFP can reach those vulnerable areas. Weather based<sup>101</sup> insurance scheme can be other options to address poverty for poor farmers. Because affordable index based drought insurance for the poor farmers worked well in Malawi and it greatly increased the productivity of agricultural product. Rice is the main crop in Bangladesh and excessive rice production is hindering the production of diversified crop.<sup>11,102</sup> Farmers can be encouraged to produce micronutrient rich foods by providing subside. In China, a multi-sectoral approach where agriculture sector worked with rural development and other sectors, helped to reduce poverty, hunger and malnutrition.<sup>33</sup> Bangladesh government can take this example and adopt a multi-sectoral approach to solve the undernutrition problem.

Evidence showed that balanced energy protein supplementation during pregnancy can help to improve the pregnancy weight gain of mother and better health outcome of their babies.<sup>103</sup> Bangladesh NNP which ran a balanced energy protein supplementation programme for pregnant women in targeted poor area is now stopped since 2011. Government can reintroduce that supplementation programme under NNS by targeting the poor region where prevalence of malnutrition is high among mothers.<sup>104</sup> Evidence showed folic acid<sup>105</sup>, iron<sup>106</sup> and multiple micronutrients<sup>107</sup> supplementation during pregnancy can improve the birth outcomes of the baby and help to reduce maternal anemia. In addition, calcium supplementation programme can be implemented by focusing the worst affected geographic areas where most of the undernourished women live in. Evidence showed microcredit programme can alleviate poverty and ensure the empowerment of women<sup>109,110</sup> as well as can improve maternal BMI.<sup>111</sup>

In Bangladesh microcredit programme is running in some parts of the country. This programme can be scaled up in the targeted poor area.

Evidence from different countries showed that mobilize communities to send their girls to school, targeted financial support, and increase number of female teacher- all these factors can influence to retain girls in school.<sup>112,113</sup> In Bangladesh there is a primary education policy and government has already given free education opportunity for girls up to class 10. But there is an implementation problem because of low awareness campaign about that issue. The proper implementation of that policy needs more campaign and advocacy. For community mobilization mass media such as television, radio, newspapers and religious leaders can be involved to communicate parents and community members about the importance and benefits of education. As maternal education is vital for child nutrition, there need a collaboration of nutrition sector with education sector. Implementation of nutrition policy which focused on the mainstream nutrition with other sectors showed magnificent result for reduction of stunting in many countries of Latin America.<sup>33</sup> In this regard, the existing food and nutrition policy of Bangladesh requires to reanalyze the possible range of mainstreaming nutrition with other sectors and where is the implementation gap of the existing policy's.

Lack of ANC visits is one of the determinants for undernutrition of children. Not only lack of health care providers but also lack of awareness of mothers and community is responsible for low coverage. In Bangladesh, most of the mother's (70%) perception about ANC visit is that it is not necessary and 25% think it is expensive (BDHS).<sup>34</sup> WHO recommended that those countries with shortage of trained delivery attendants, should invest their resources effectively for capacity building to produce diverse health care providers and train traditional birth attendant for supportive care during the antenatal and postnatal period.<sup>114</sup> Government can adopt same strategy in context of Bangladesh. Community involvement is another important strategy<sup>115</sup> to remove cultural and social barriers as well as build up awareness about the importance of ANC visit. The use of mass media, collaboration with women's association and with community leader can be effective in context of this country. Evidence showed that removing user fees improves the utilization of ANC among pregnant mothers.<sup>116</sup> Government can implement this strategy in Bangladesh. In Bangladesh government introduced a pilot maternal health voucher scheme (demand side financing) since 2006 to increase utilization of care among pregnant mother and their newborn of the poorer household from designated provider.<sup>117</sup> Government can scale up this programme in the national level to provide services for selected poor or vulnerable groups.

# **Chapter 6: Conclusions and recommendations**

# **6.1 Conclusions**

From the above discussion and analysis, we see determinants of undernutrition in the context of Bangladesh are very complex. This study demonstrates that all three causes namely immediate, underlying and basic causes are interacting with each other and together they are contributing to the development of undernutrition among children under 2 years of age. According to this study, inadequate dietary intake like MDD, MMF, MAD and history of diseases like ARI, fever, diarrhoea are the major immediate causes responsible for occurrence for undernutrition. Household food insecurity, mother's low BMI, prelacteal feeding, and inadequate utilization of ANC services are the underlying causes related with undernutrition. Basic causes like region, age of the child, father's education, access to media, mother's education, and poverty are contributing to the development of undernutrition.

Multiple strategies and interventions with multi-sectoral collaboration are required to deal with undernutrition as many factors are beyond the scope of the health ministry. Government is already addressing many of the key determinants. However, some gaps remain that need to be covered to optimize the impact of nutrition programmes. The following strategies or interventions are found to be feasible and promising to improve the nutritional situation for under 2 children. Inadequate dietary intake and inappropriate feeding practices need to be addressed through strengthening of IYCF practices. Micronutrient supplementation can be provided for both mother and child as currently government is doing only in a small scale. Infectious disease control remains weak in Bangladesh and it needs to be strengthened through the continued improvement of sanitation and hygiene practices to reduce diarrhoea and the prevention and management of common childhood diseases by expanding the IMCI programme nationally. For improvement of maternal nutritional status, balanced protein energy supplementation can be provided which in turn will improve the birth outcomes of the babies. Different types of social safety net programme need to be expanded in the poor geographical area by using the poverty map. It will help to reduce poverty, increase household food security, women empowerment and better nutritional status for both mother and child. Different national and international organizations are running small scale nutrition interventions in different parts of the country. Sometimes these programmes are overlapping the same geographical area. There is need for collaboration among them to improve coverage within limited resources.

Essential policies are already in place that support the achievement of improved females' education and women's rights, but their implementation needs to be reinforced. Continued advocacy is needed for promotion of female education and the continued expansion of health services will improve access to ANC services and other preventive activities such as vaccination and health education. Uptake of ANC service can be promoted by community mobilization, demand side financing, and withdrawal of user fees.

For implementation of nutritional programme there is a need for strengthening of existing human resource working at different levels. Increase government's budget allocation and continual international financial support for nutritional programme are also crucial for the reduction of

undernutrition among children under 2 years of age. Commitment from ministry of health, agriculture, education, rural development and other stakeholders is required for implementing the nutritional programme.

# 6.2 Recommendations

# At policy level

- Promote a multi-sectoral approach: The ministry of health should involve relevant stakeholders and other ministries like agriculture, water and sanitation, LGRD&Co, and education ministry including community in the planning and implementation of nutrition programme.
- Support poverty reduction: Ministry of finance in collaboration with agriculture, LGRD&Co and relevant stakeholders should implement nutrition sensitive social safety net programme such as FFW, VGF, microcredit and other income generating programmes to alleviate poverty, improve household food security and increase women empowerment. Priority should be given to poor geographical area where undernutrition is most prevalent.
- Involve multiple stakeholders to improve service provision: Government should collaborate with other national and international NGOs who are already running some nutrition interventions for better coordinate service provision.

# At programme level

- IYCF practices should be strengthened through mass media campaign at all level of community and engaging HAs to conduct counseling, health education and cooking demonstration to improve the knowledge of people regarding IYCF practices.
- Balanced energy protein supplementation (macronutrient) for pregnant undernourished mother should be started under NNS. Micronutrient supplementation for mother and child and should be provided through EPI and ANC services.
- For prevention and management of common childhood diseases both facility and community based IMCI should be expanded all over the country. Necessary training, equipment and supplies should be provided to effectively run this programme.
- ANC visits should be promoted through different strategies like expansion of health services, community mobilization, mass media campaign, collaboration with women's association and community leaders, demand side financing, and withdrawal of user fees.
- National level mass media and community based awareness campaign of hygiene and sanitation should be implemented for prevention of diarrhoea under the water and sanitation programme of LGRD&Co ministry.
- Government should promote female education in the community level through advocacy and mass media campaign.

# Research

• The ministry of health in collaboration with BRAC should conduct a qualitative research involving mothers, fathers, caregivers and key informants to understand how the determinants are contributing to the development of undernutrition among children of under 2 years of age.

# Reference

<sup>1</sup> National Institute of Population Research and Training: Bangladesh demographic and health survey 2011. Dhaka: National Institute of Population Research and Training; 2009.

<sup>2</sup> Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics (BBS). Population and Housing Census 2011. Bangladesh at a glance. 2011. Available from <u>http://www.bbs.gov.bd/WebTestApplication/userfiles/Image/Census2011/Bangladesh\_glance.pdf</u>. Accessed on 18 May, 2013.

<sup>3</sup> Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics (BBS). Statistical Year Book of Bangladesh 2010. 2011. Dhaka, Bangladesh: BBS.

<sup>4</sup> World Bank. Data of Bangladesh. Available from <u>http://data.worldbank.org/country/bangladesh</u>. Accessed on 18 May, 2013.

<sup>5</sup> Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics (BBS). Planning Division, Ministry of Planning. Population Census-2001, National Series, Vol. 1 Analytical Report. 2007. Dhaka, Bangladesh: BBS.

<sup>6</sup> Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh. Economic Adviser's Wing Finance Division, Ministry of Finance. Bangladesh economic review 2012.

<sup>7</sup> Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics (BBS). Statistical Year Book of Bangladesh 2006. 2008. Dhaka, Bangladesh: BBS.

<sup>8</sup> World Health Organization (WHO). Bangladesh coutry profile. Available from <u>http://www.who.int/countries/bgd/en/</u>. Accessed on 18 May, 2013.

<sup>9</sup> Bangladesh country report. BTI 2012. Available from <u>http://www.bti-project.de/fileadmin/Inhalte/reports/2012/pdf/BTI%202012%20Bangladesh.pdf</u>. Accessed on 10 July, 2013.

<sup>10</sup> Bhuiyan MZA. Present Status of Garment workers in Bangladesh: An analysis. Journal of Business and Management. Sep-Oct. 2012;Volume 3(5): 38-44.

<sup>11</sup> Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh. Ministry of Agriculture. Towards a Food Secure Bangladesh: Country Programming Framework 2010-2015. May 2011. Available from <u>http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/faobd/docs/Priorities/Bangladesh\_CPF\_Final\_22\_May\_2011.pdf</u>. Accessed on 8 August, 2013.

<sup>12</sup> Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh. Available from
<u>http://www.moedu.gov.bd/index.php?option=com\_content&task=view&id=299&Itemid=300</u>. Accessed on 30 July, 2013.

<sup>13</sup> World Health Organization (WHO). Health system in Bangladesh. 2010. Available from <u>http://www.ban.searo.who.int/EN/Section25.htm</u>. Accessed on 10 July, 2013.

<sup>14</sup> WHO. Global health expenditure database. Bangladesh national expenditure on health. 2013. Available from <u>http://apps.who.int/nha/database/StandardReport.aspx?ID=REP\_WEB\_MINI\_TEMPLATE\_WEB\_VERSION&COUNT\_RYKEY=84674</u>. Accessed on 20 July, 2013.

<sup>15</sup> Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh. Ministry of Health and Family Welfare. Health Bulletin 2011. Available from <u>http://dghs.gov.bd/bn/licts\_file/images/Health\_Bulletin/HealthBulletin2011.pdf</u>. Accessed on 10 July, 2013.

<sup>16</sup> World Bank. Bangladesh Health Sector Profile 2010. Available from <u>http://www-</u>wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2012/05/16/000333037\_20120516002400/Rendered/PDF/688850ESW0P1130rofile0final0Dec028.pdf. Accessed on 20 May, 2013.

<sup>17</sup> National Institute of Population Research and Training: Bangladesh maternal mortality and health care survey 2010. Dhaka: National Institute of Population Research and Training; 2011.

<sup>18</sup> UNICEF. Bangladesh country statistics. 2011. Available from <u>http://www.unicef.org/infobycountry/bangladesh\_bangladesh\_statistics.html</u>. Accessed on 10 July, 2013.

<sup>19</sup> WHO vaccine-preventable diseases: monitoring system. global summary 2013. Last updated 4-Jun-2013. Available from

http://apps.who.int/immunization\_monitoring/globalsummary/countries?countrycriteria[country][]=BGD. Accessed on July 10, 2013.

<sup>20</sup> Global Burden of Disease Profile: Bangladesh. 2010.

http://www.healthmetricsandevaluation.org/sites/default/files/country-profiles/GBD%20Country%20Report%20-%20Bangladesh.pdf. Accessed on 26 May, 2013.

<sup>21</sup>WHO. Policy - Bangladesh National Plan of Action for Nutrition (NPAN). Available from <u>https://extranet.who.int/nutrition/gina/sites/default/files/BGD%201997%20Bangladesh%20National%20Plan%20</u> <u>of%20Action%20for%20Nutrition.pdf</u>. Accessed on 31 July, 2013.

<sup>22</sup> Mannan MA. An evaluation of the national food and nutrition policy of Bangladesh. Food Nutr Bull. 2003 Jun;24(2):183-92.

<sup>23</sup> World Bank. Implementation completion and result report on a credit in the amount of SDR 68.50 million (US\$92.0 million equivalent) to the people's republic of Bangladesh for a National Nutrition Project. Available from <a href="http://www-">http://www-</a>

wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2007/04/30/000020953 20070430112717/Rendered/PDF/ICR0000242.pdf. Accessed on 31 July, 2013.

<sup>24</sup> Ahmed T, Mahfuz M, Ireen S, Ahmed AM, Rahman S, Islam MM, Alam N, Hossain MI, Rahman SM, Ali MM, Choudhury FP, Cravioto A. Nutrition of children and women in Bangladesh: trends and directions for the future. J Health Popul Nutr. 2012 Mar;30(1):1-11.

<sup>25</sup> Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh. Ministry of health and family welfare. Health Population and Nutrition Sector Development Program (HPNSDP), 2011-16. Available from <u>http://www.mohfw.gov.bd/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=166&Itemid=150&Iang=en</u>. Accessed on 31 July, 2013.

<sup>26</sup> Institute of Public Health Nutrition Bangladesh (IPHN). Ministry of health and family welfare. Available from <a href="http://iphn.gov.bd/english/history.html">http://iphn.gov.bd/english/history.html</a>. Accessed on 31 July, 2013.

<sup>27</sup> Levels & Trends in Child Malnutrition. UNICEF-WHO-The World Bank Joint Child Malnutrition Estimates. 2012. Available from <u>http://www.who.int/nutgrowthdb/jme\_unicef\_who\_wb.pdf</u>. Accessed on 14 May, 2013.

<sup>28</sup> Black RE, Victora CG, Walker SP, Bhutta ZA, Christian P, de Onis M, Ezzati M, Grantham-McGregor S, Katz J, Martorell R, Uauy R; Maternal and Child Nutrition Study Group. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet. 2013 Aug 3;382(9890):427-51. <sup>29</sup> Black RE, Allen LH, Bhutta ZA, Caulfield LE, de Onis M, Ezzati M, Mathers C, Rivera J, for the Maternal and Child Undernutrition Study Group. Maternal and child undernutrition: global and regional exposures and health consequences. Lancet 2008;371:243–60.

<sup>30</sup> Pasricha SR, Biggs BA. Undernutrition among children in South and South-East Asia. J Paediatr Child Health. 2010 Sep;46(9):497-503.

<sup>31</sup> The World Bank. Repositioning Nutrition as Central to Development. A Strategy for Large-Scale Action. Directions in Development. Washington, DC: The World Bank; 2006.

<sup>32</sup> Victora CG, Adair L, Fall C, Hallal PC, Martorell R, Richter L, Sachdev HS; Maternal and Child Undernutrition Study Group. Maternal and child undernutrition: consequences for adult health and human capital. Lancet. 2008 Jan 26;371(9609):340-57.

<sup>33</sup> Bryce J, Coitinho D, Darnton-Hill I, Pelletier D, Pinstrup-Andersen P; Maternal and Child Undernutrition Study Group. Maternal and child undernutrition: effective action at national level. Lancet. 2008 Feb 9;371(9611):510-26.

<sup>34</sup> National Institute of Population Research and Training. Bangladesh demographic and health survey 2007. Dhaka: National Institute of Population Research and Training, 2009.

<sup>35</sup> Zongrone A, Winskell K, Menon P. Infant and young child feeding practices and child undernutrition in Bangladesh: insights from nationally representative data.Public Health Nutr. 2012 Sep;15(9):1697-704.

<sup>36</sup> National Institute of Population Research and Training: Bangladesh maternal mortality and health care survey 2010. Dhaka: National Institute of Population Research and Training; 2011.

<sup>37</sup> You D, Jones G, Hill K, Wardlaw T, Chopra M. Levels and trends in child mortality, 1990-2009. Lancet. 2010 Sep 18;376(9745):931-3.

<sup>38</sup> The Millennium Development Goals Bangladesh progress report 2011. General Economic Devision. Bangladesh planning commission. Feb 2012. Available from <a href="http://www.bd.undp.org/content/bangladesh/en/home/library/mdg/publication\_2/">http://www.bd.undp.org/content/bangladesh/en/home/library/mdg/publication\_2/</a>. Accessed on 22 May, 2013.

<sup>39</sup> Unicef. Childinfo. Monitoring the situation of children and women. Statistics by area/ child nutrition. Tracking progress towards MDG 1. Last updated Feb 2013. Available from http://www.childinfo.org/malnutrition\_mdgprogress.php. Accessed on 20 May, 2013.

<sup>40</sup> United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). Strategy for improved nutrition of children and women in developing countries. A UNICEF policy review. 1990. New York.

<sup>41</sup> Mostafa KS. Socio-economic determinants of severe and moderate stunting among under-five children of rural Bangladesh. Malays J Nutr. 2011 Apr;17(1):105-18.

<sup>42</sup> Siddiqi MA, Nuruzzaman MH, Goni MA. Malnutrition of Under-Five Children: Evidence from Bangladesh. Asian Journal of Medical Sciences 2 (2011):113-119.

<sup>43</sup> Islam MM, Alam M, Tariquzaman M, Kabir MA, Pervin R, Begum M, Khan MM. Predictors of the number of under-five malnourished children in Bangladesh: application of the generalized poisson regression model. BMC Public Health. 2013 Jan 8;13:11.

<sup>44</sup> Jesmin A, Yamamoto SS, Malik AA, Haque MA. Prevalence and determinants of chronic malnutrition among preschool children: a cross-sectional study in Dhaka City, Bangladesh. J Health Popul Nutr. 2011 Oct;29(5):494-9.

<sup>45</sup> Rahman A, Chowdhury S. Determinants of chronic malnutrition among preschool children in Bangladesh. J Biosoc Sci. 2007 Mar;39(2):161-73.

<sup>46</sup> Rayhan MI, Khan MS. Factors causing malnutrition among under five children in Bangladesh. Pakistan Journal of Nutrition. 2006;5(6):558-562.

<sup>47</sup> Ahmed AM, Ahmed T, Roy SK, Alam N, Hossain MI. Determinants of undernutrition in children under 2 years of age from rural Bangladesh. Indian Pediatr. 2012 Oct;49(10):821-4.

<sup>48</sup> Niger T, Khatun S, Sultana M, Islam N, Kazuhiro O. Determinants of Malnutrition among the Children under 2 Years of Age. Pakistan Journal of Nutrition. 2010;9 (1): 27-34.

<sup>49</sup> Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh. Operational Plan for "NATIONAL NUTRITION SERVICES" July 2011 - June 2016. Health, Population and Nutrition Sector Development Program (HPNSDP). Directorate General Of Health Services, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare July 2011.

<sup>50</sup> Bhutta ZA, Das JK, Rizvi A, Gaffey MF, Walker N, Horton S, Webb P, Lartey A, Black RE; Lancet Nutrition Interventions Review Group; Maternal and Child Nutrition Study Group. Evidence-based interventions for improvement of maternal and child nutrition: what can be done and at what cost? Lancet. 2013 Aug 3;382(9890):452-77.

<sup>51</sup> World Health Organization/UNICEF (2008). Indicators for Assessing Infant and Young Child Feeding Practices: Conclusions of a Consensus Meeting held 6–8 November 2007 in Washington DC, USA. Geneva: WHO.

<sup>52</sup> Das S, Rahman RM. Application of ordinal logistic regression analysis in determining risk factors of child malnutrition in Bangladesh. Nutr J. 2011 Nov 14;10:124.

<sup>53</sup> Rahman A, Chowdhury S, Hossain D. Acute malnutrition in Bangladeshi children: levels and determinants. Asia Pac J Public Health. 2009 Jul;21(3):294-302.

<sup>54</sup> HKI Bangladesh. Household and community level determinants of malnutrition in Bangladesh. Nutrition surveillance projects. May, 2006. Bulletin no. 17.

<sup>55</sup> Chakraborty B. Determinants of under nutrition among under-2 children: what haven't yet addressed in context of rural Bangladesh. Royal Tropical Institute (KIT), 2008. Available from <u>http://www.search4dev.nl/search?f1-</u>subjectkeyword=nutrition;docsPerPage=1;startDoc=16. Accessed on 2 May, 2013.

<sup>56</sup> Hong R, Banta JE, Betancourt JA. Relationship between household wealth inequality and chronic childhood undernutrition in Bangladesh. Int J Equity Health. 2006 Dec 5;5:15.

<sup>57</sup> Das S, Hossain MZ and Islam MA. Predictors of child chronic malnutrition in Bangladesh. Proc. Pakistan Acad. Sci. 2008;45 (5):137-155.

<sup>58</sup> Mostafa Kamal SM Jr, Rosliza AM, Aynul M. Effects of Wealth on Nutritional Status of Pre-school Children in Bangladesh. Malays J Nutr. 2010 Aug;16(2):219-32.

<sup>59</sup> Alom J, Quddus MA, Islam MA. Nutritional status of under-five children in Bangladesh: a multilevel analysis. J Biosoc Sci. 2012 Sep;44(5):525-35. <sup>60</sup> Saha KK, Frongillo EA, Alam DS, Arifeen SE, Persson LA, Rasmussen KM. Appropriate infant feeding practices result in better growth of infants and young children in rural Bangladesh. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008 Jun;87(6):1852-9.

<sup>61</sup> Victora CG, de Onis M, Hallal PC, Blössner M, Shrimpton R. Worldwide timing of growth faltering: revisiting implications for interventions. Pediatrics. 2010 Mar;125(3):e473-80.

<sup>62</sup> Sawadogo PS, Martin-Prével Y, Savy M, Kameli Y, Traissac P, Traoré AS, Delpeuch F. An infant and child feeding index is associated with the nutritional status of 6- to 23-month-old children in rural Burkina Faso. J Nutr. 2006 Mar;136(3):656-63.

<sup>63</sup> Ruel MT, Menon P. Child feeding practices are associated with child nutritional status in Latin America: innovative uses of the demographic and health surveys. J Nutr. 2002 Jun;132(6):1180-7. PubMed PMID: 12042431.

<sup>64</sup> Arimond M, Ruel MT. Dietary diversity is associated with child nutritional status: evidence from 11 demographic and health surveys. J Nutr. 2004 Oct;134(10):2579-85. PubMed PMID: 15465751.

<sup>65</sup> Kumar D, Goel NK, Mittal PC, Misra P. Influence of infant-feeding practices on nutritional status of under-five children. Indian J Pediatr. 2006 May;73(5):417-21.

<sup>66</sup> Murata M. Secular trends in growth and changes in eating patterns of Japanese children. Am J Clin Nutr. 2000 Nov;72(5 Suppl):1379S-1383S. Review.

<sup>67</sup> Wamani H, Astrøm AN, Peterson S, Tumwine JK, Tylleskär T. Predictors of poor anthropometric status among children under 2 years of age in rural Uganda. Public Health Nutr. 2006 May;9(3):320-6.

<sup>68</sup> Roy NC. Use of mid-upper arm circumference for evaluation of nutritional status of children and for identification of high-risk groups for malnutrition in rural Bangladesh. J Health Popul Nutr. 2000 Dec;18(3):171-80.

<sup>69</sup> Psaki S, Bhutta ZA, Ahmed T, Ahmed S, Bessong P, Islam M, John S, Kosek M, Lima A, Nesamvuni C, Shrestha P, Svensen E, McGrath M, Richard S, Seidman J, Caulfield L, Miller M, Checkley W; for MALED Network Investigators. Household food access and child malnutrition: results from the eight-country MAL-ED study. Popul Health Metr. 2012 Dec 13;10(1):24.

<sup>70</sup> Hackett M, Melgar-Quiñonez H, Alvarez MC. Household food insecurity associated with stunting and underweight among preschool children in Antioquia, Colombia. Rev Panam Salud Publica. 2009 Jun;25(6):506-10.

<sup>71</sup> Pramod Singh GC, Nair M, Grubesic RB, Connell FA. Factors associated with underweight and stunting among children in rural Terai of eastern Nepal. Asia Pac J Public Health. 2009 Apr;21(2):144-52.

<sup>72</sup> Bloss E, Wainaina F, Bailey RC. Prevalence and predictors of underweight, stunting, and wasting among children aged 5 and under in western Kenya. J Trop Pediatr. 2004 Oct;50(5):260-70.

<sup>73</sup> Kikafunda JK, Walker AF, Collett D, Tumwine JK. Risk factors for early childhood malnutrition in Uganda. Pediatrics. 1998 Oct;102(4):E45.

<sup>74</sup> Jeyaseelan L, Lakshman M. Risk factors for malnutrition in south Indian children. J Biosoc Sci. 1997 Jan;29(1):93-100.

<sup>75</sup> Mahgoub S, Nnyepi M, Bandeke T. Factors affecting prevalence of malnutrition among children under three years of age in Botswana. African journal of food agriculture nutrition and development. 2006. Vol 6 no.1.

<sup>76</sup> Hien NN, Kam S. Nutritional status and the characteristics related to malnutrition in children under five years of age in Nghean, Vietnam. J Prev Med Public Health. 2008 Jul;41(4):232-40.

<sup>77</sup> Oliveira VA, Assis AM, Pinheiro SM, Barreto ML. Determinants of weight and linear growth deficits in children under two years of age. Rev Saude Publica. 2006 Oct;40(5):874-82.

<sup>78</sup> Hong R, Mishra V. Effect of wealth inequality on chronic undernutrition in Cambodian children. J Health Popul Nutr. 2006 Mar;24(1):89-99.

<sup>79</sup> World Breastfeeding Trends Initiative (WBTi). Available from <u>http://www.worldbreastfeedingtrends.org/report/WBTi-Bangladesh-2008.pdf</u>. Accessed on 23 July, 2013.

<sup>80</sup> Britton C, McCormick FM, Renfrew MJ, Wade A, King SE. Support for breastfeeding mothers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007 Jan 24;(1):CD001141. Review. Update in: Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;5:CD001141.

<sup>81</sup> Lassi ZS, Haider BA, Bhutta ZA. Community-based intervention packages for reducing maternal and neonatal morbidity and mortality and improving neonatal outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010 Nov 10;(11):CD007754.

<sup>82</sup> Haider R, Ashworth A, Kabir I, Huttly SR. Effect of community-based peer counsellors on exclusive breastfeeding practices in Dhaka, Bangladesh: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2000; 356: 1643–47.

<sup>83</sup> Morrow AL, Guerrero ML, Shults J, et al. Efficacy of home-based peer counselling to promote exclusive breastfeeding: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 1999; 353: 1226–31.

<sup>84</sup> Bhandari N, Bahl R, Mazumdar S, Martines J, Black RE, Bhan MK. Effect of community-based promotion of exclusive breastfeeding on diarrhoeal illness and growth: a cluster randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2003; 361: 1418–23.

<sup>85</sup> Imdad A, Yakoob MY, Bhutta ZA. Impact of maternal education about complementary feeding and provision of complementary foods on child growth in developing countries. BMC Public Health. 2011 Apr 13;11 Suppl 3:S25. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-S3-S25. Review. PubMed PMID: 21501443; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3231899.

<sup>86</sup>Alive and Thrive. Bangladesh. Available from <u>http://aliveandthrive.org/where-we-work/country/bangladesh</u>. Accessed on 11 August, 2013.

<sup>87</sup> Imdad A, Herzer K, Mayo-Wilson E, Yakoob MY, Bhutta ZA. Vitamin A supplementation for preventing morbidity and mortality in children from 6 months to 5 years of age. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010 Dec 8;(12):CD008524.

<sup>88</sup> De-Regil LM, Jeff erds MED, Sylvetsky AC, Dowswell T. Intermittent iron supplementation for improving nutrition and development in children under 12 years of age. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011; 12: CD009085.

<sup>89</sup> Ahmed HM, Mitchell M, Hedt B. National implementation of Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI): policy constraints and strategies. Health Policy 2010; 96: 128-33.

<sup>90</sup> El Arifeen S, Blum LS, Hoque DM, Chowdhury EK, Khan R, Black RE, Victora CG, Bryce J. Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI) in Bangladesh: early findings from a cluster-randomised study. Lancet. 2004 Oct 30-Nov 5;364(9445):1595-602. PubMed PMID: 15519629.

<sup>91</sup>Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh. IMCI Newsletter. Performance report from January to December 2010. March 2012. Issue 3. Available from

http://www.dghs.gov.bd/en/images/MIS\_documents/IMCI/imci\_issue\_3\_march\_2012.pdf. Accessed on 28 July, 2013.

<sup>92</sup> Puoane T, Cuming K, Sanders D, Ashworth A. Why do some hospitals achieve better care of severely malnourished children than others? Five-year follow-up of rural hospitals in Eastern Cape, South Africa. Health Policy Plan. 2008 Nov;23(6):428-37.

<sup>93</sup> Community-based management of severe acute malnutrition: a joint Statement by the World Health Organization, the World Food Programme, the United Nations System Standing Committee on Nutrition, the United Nations Children's Fund. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2007.

<sup>94</sup> Govt. of People's Republic of Bangladesh: Local Govt. Division, Ministry of LGRD and Co-operatives. National policy for safe water supply and sanitation 1998. Available from <a href="http://www.lgd.gov.bd/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=21&Itemid=74&lang=en">http://www.lgd.gov.bd/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=21&Itemid=74&lang=en</a>. Accessed on 20 June, 2013.

<sup>95</sup>Ministry of Women and Children Affairs. National Plan of Action for Children Bangladesh 200-2009. June 2005. Avaiable from

http://www.lcgbangladesh.org/Education/reports/NPA%20Master%20Clean%20Final%2022%20June%202005.pdf. Accessed on 5 August, 2013.

<sup>96</sup> Luby SP, Halder AK, Huda T, Unicomb L, Johnston RB. The effect of handwashing at recommended times with water alone and with soap on child diarrhea in rural Bangladesh: an observational study. PLoS Med. 2011 Jun;8(6):e1001052.

<sup>97</sup> Curtis V, Cairncross S. Effect of washing hands with soap on diarrhoea risk in the community: a systematic review. Lancet Infect Dis. 2003 May;3(5):275-81.

<sup>98</sup> Bhutta ZA, Ahmed T, Black RE, Cousens S, Dewey K, Giugliani E, Haider BA, Kirkwood B, Morris SS, Sachdev HP, Shekar M; Maternal and Child Undernutrition Study Group. What works? Interventions for maternal and child undernutrition and survival. Lancet. 2008 Feb 2;371(9610):417-40.

<sup>99</sup> Ahmed, A., Quisumbing, A., Hoddinott, J., Nasreen, M. and Bryan, E. Relative Efficacy of Food and Cash Transfers in Improving Food Security and Livelihoods of the Ultra-Poor in Bangladesh. 2007.IFPRI, Washington, USA, WFP, Dhaka, Bangladesh.

<sup>100</sup> Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics (BBS). Updating Poverty Maps of Bangladesh. Available from <a href="http://www.dellchallenge.org/sites/default/files/groups/309809/documents/PovertyMapsofBangladesh.pdf">http://www.dellchallenge.org/sites/default/files/groups/309809/documents/PovertyMapsofBangladesh.pdf</a>. Accessed on 5 August, 2013.

<sup>101</sup> Climate risk management in Africa: Learning from practice. Drought insurance in Malawi. Available from <u>http://www.fanrpan.org/documents/d00255/3-Climate-risk Africa 2007e.pdf</u>. Accessed on 28 July, 2013.

<sup>102</sup> FAO/WFP CFSAM 2008. Report FAO/WFP crop and food supply assessment mission to Bangladesh. Available from <u>http://documents.wfp.org/stellent/groups/public/documents/ena/wfp188371.pdf</u>. Accessed on 28 July, 2013.

<sup>103</sup> Imdad A, Bhutta ZA. Maternal nutrition and birth outcomes: effect of balanced protein-energy supplementation. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2012 Jul;26 Suppl 1:178-90.

<sup>104</sup> Shaheen R, de Francisco A, El Arifeen S, Ekström EC, Persson LA. Effect of prenatal food supplementation on birth weight: an observational study from Bangladesh. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006 Jun;83(6):1355-61. PubMed PMID: 16762947.

<sup>105</sup> Lassi ZS, Salam RA, Haider BA, Bhutta ZA. Folic acid supplementation during pregnancy for maternal health and pregnancy outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013 Mar 28;3:CD006896.

<sup>106</sup> Peña-Rosas JP, De-Regil LM, Dowswell T, Viteri FE. Daily oral iron supplementation during pregnancy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012 Dec 12;12:CD004736.

<sup>107</sup> Haider BA, Bhutta ZA. Multiple-micronutrient supplementation for women during pregnancy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012 Nov 14;11:CD004905.

<sup>108</sup> Imdad A, Bhutta ZA. Effects of calcium supplementation during pregnancy on maternal, fetal and birth outcomes. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2012 Jul;26 Suppl 1:138-52.

<sup>109</sup> Nessa T , Ali J, Abdul-Hakim R. The Impact of Microcredit Program on Women Empowerment: Evidence from Bangladesh. International Journal of Sustainable Development. 2012 Apr; Vol.3 (9): 11-20.

<sup>110</sup> Microcredit and women's empowerment in South India. Second European Research Conference on Microfinance. June 16-18 Groningen. Available from <a href="http://www.rug.nl/research/globalisation-studies-groningen/research/conferencesandseminars/conferences/eumicrofinconf2011/papers/1new.12.dijkstra.pdf">http://www.rug.nl/research/globalisation-studies-groningen/research/conferencesandseminars/conferences/eumicrofinconf2011/papers/1new.12.dijkstra.pdf</a>. Accessed on July 27, 2013.

<sup>111</sup> Bandiera O, Burgess R, Gulesci R, Rasul I. Community Networks and Poverty Reduction Programmes: Evidence from Bangladesh.2009. Available from <u>http://sticerd.lse.ac.uk/dps/eopp/eopp15.pdf.</u> Accessed on 27 July, 2013.

<sup>112</sup> Handa S. Raising primary school enrolment in developing countries: The relative importance of supply and demand. Journal of Development Economics. 2002; 69: 103– 128.

<sup>113</sup> Clarke P. Fast-tracking Girls' Education. A Progress Report by the Education for All –Fast Track Initiative. UNESCO's Global Monitoring Report 2011. Available from <u>http://www.globalpartnership.org/media/library/girls-</u> report/1-FastTrackEd-Girls-education-report-full.pdf. Accessed on 27 July, 2013.

<sup>114</sup> WHO. Making a difference in countries: Strategic Approach to Improving Maternal and Newborn Survival. Available from <u>http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2006/strategic approach eng.pdf</u>. Accessed on 27 July, 2007.

<sup>115</sup> Lee AC, Lawn JE, Cousens S, Kumar V, Osrin D, Bhutta ZA, Wall SN, Nandakumar AK, Syed U, Darmstadt GL. Linking families and facilities for care at birth: what works to avert intrapartum-related deaths? Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2009 Oct;107 Suppl 1:S65-85, S86-8.

<sup>116</sup> Dzakpasu S, Powell-Jackson T, Campbell OM. Impact of user fees on maternal health service utilization and related health outcomes: a systematic review. Health Policy Plan. 2013 Jan 30. [Epub ahead of print] PubMed PMID: 23372035.

<sup>117</sup> Schmidt JO, Ensor T, Hossain A, Khan S. Vouchers as demand side financing instruments for health care: a review of the Bangladesh maternal voucher scheme. Health Policy. 2010 Jul;96(2):98-107.

#### Glossary

**Undernutrition** – An insufficient intake and/or inadequate absorption of energy, protein or micronutrients that in turn leads to nutritional deficiency.

**Stunting**– Stunting means low height for age. A child who is below two standard deviations from the median (-2 SD) of the WHO reference population in terms of height-for-age is considered stunted. Stunting reflects chronic malnutrition, which means failure to receive adequate nutrition for a long period of time.

**Underweight**– Underweight means low weight for age. Weight-for-age is a composite index of weight-for-height and height-for-age. A child who is below two standard deviations (-2 SD) from the median of the WHO reference in terms of weight-for-age is considered underweight. It does not distinguish between acute malnutrition (wasting) and chronic malnutrition (stunting).

**Wasting**– Wasting means low weight for height. A child who is below two standard deviations (-2 SD) from the median of the WHO reference in terms of weight-for-height is considered wasting. It reflects acute malnutrition.

**Prelacteal feeding**– Children have given something other than breast milk during the first three days of life.

**Infant and young child feeding (IYCF)** – Term used to describe the feeding of infants (less than 12 months old) and young children (12–23 months old). IYCF programmes focus on the protection, promotion and support of exclusive breastfeeding for the first six months, on timely introduction of complementary feeding and on continued breastfeeding for two years or beyond. Issues of policy and legislation around the regulation of the marketing of infant formula and other breast milk substitutes are also addressed by these programmes.

**Body mass index (BMI)** – Defined as an individual's body mass (in kilograms) divided by height (in metres squared): BMI units = kg/m2. Acute malnutrition in adults is measured by using BMI.

#### Annex 2: Definition of indicators for assessing infant and young child feeding practices

## **CORE INDICATORS**

#### **Breastfeeding initiation**

1. **Early initiation of breastfeeding:** Proportion of children born in the last 24 months who were put to the breast within one hour of birth

Children born in the last 24 months who were put to the breast within one hour of birth

Children born in the last 24 months

Notes:

- This indicator is based on historic recall. The denominator and numerator include living children and deceased children who were born within the past 24 months.
- It is recommended that the indicator be further disaggregated and reported for (i) live births occurring in the last 12 months; and (ii) live births occurring between the last 12 and 24 months.

#### **Exclusive breastfeeding**

2. Exclusive breastfeeding under 6 months: Proportion of infants 0-5 months of age who are fed exclusively with breast milk

Infants 0–5 months of age who received only breast milk during the previous day

Infants 0–5 months of age

- This indicator includes breastfeeding by a wet nurse and feeding expressed breast milk. It was, however, thought simpler to retain the term "exclusive breastfeeding" rather than the more precise but cumbersome term "fed exclusively on breast milk". (For the definition of "exclusive breastfeeding" see Table 1.)
- This is the first in the series of current status indicators based on recall of the previous day and includes living infants. All indicators that follow, except "children ever breastfed", are also based on recall of the previous day.
- Using the previous day recall period will cause the proportion of exclusively breastfed infants to be overestimated, as some infants who are given other liquids irregularly may not have received them in the day before the survey.
- As with other indicators that are based on current status, exclusive breastfeeding is based on a cross section of children in a given age range, in this case children from birth to just

under 6 months of age. It therefore does not represent the proportion of infants who are exclusively breastfed *until just under* 6 months of age and *should not* be interpreted as such. It is generally accepted that the proportion of children who are exclusively breastfed *until just under* 6 months of age is lower than the number derived from the indicator of current status. For example, if there is a linear rate of decline in the proportion exclusively breastfed from 100% at birth to 20% at 6 months, the indicator value for exclusive breastfeeding under 6 months would be 60% (as compared to 20% still exclusively breastfed at 6 months). However, the indicator recommended in this document represents the best option for estimating exclusive breastfeeding and is more sensitive to capturing changes. If there is interest in identifying differences in proportions of infants exclusively breastfed over smaller age ranges, creation of figures such as shown in Annex 3, and disaggregation as suggested in the bullet below may provide such information.

• It is recommended that the indicator be further disaggregated and reported for the following age-groups: 0–1 months, 2–3 months, 4–5 months and 0–3 months.

## **Continued breastfeeding**

 Continued breastfeeding at 1 year: Proportion of children 12-15 months of age who are fed breast milk

Children 12-15 months of age who received breast milk during the previous day

Children 12–15 months of age

Notes:

- This indicator includes breastfeeding by a wet nurse and feeding expressed breast milk.
- The title of this indicator on continued breastfeeding reflects an approximation of the age range covered. Because of the age interval, the indicator underestimates the proportion of children breastfed at one year.
- Because the indicator has a relatively narrow age range of 4 months, estimates from surveys with small sample sizes are likely to have wide confidence intervals.

#### Introduction of complementary foods

4. Introduction of solid, semi-solid or soft foods: Proportion of infants 6–8 months of age who receive solid, semi-solid or soft foods

Infants 6-8 months of age who received solid, semi-solid or soft foods during the previous day

Infants 6-8 months of age

- This indicator is one of the two parts of the previous composite indicator for timely complementary feeding, which also included continued breastfeeding (1).
- The previous indicator included living infants 6–9 months in the numerator and denominator. A narrower age range has been chosen so as not to include infants first receiving foods as late as 9 months in the numerator.
- Because the indicator has a very narrow age range of 3 months, estimates from surveys with small sample sizes are likely to have wide confidence intervals.

#### **Dietary diversity**

5. **Minimum dietary diversity:** Proportion of children 6–23 months of age who receive foods from 4 or more food groups

Children 6–23 months of age who received foods from  $\ge$  4 food groups during the previous day

Children 6-23 months of age

- The 7 foods groups used for tabulation of this indicator are:
  - grains, roots and tubers
  - legumes and nuts
  - dairy products (milk, yogurt, cheese)
  - flesh foods (meat, fish, poultry and liver/organ meats)
  - eggs
  - vitamin-A rich fruits and vegetables
  - other fruits and vegetables
- Consumption of any amount of food from each food group is sufficient to "count", i.e., there is no minimum quantity, except if an item is only used as a condiment.<sup>1</sup>
- The cut-off of at least 4 of the above 7 food groups above was selected because it is associated with better quality diets for both breastfed and non-breastfed children (10). Consumption of foods from at least 4 food groups on the previous day would mean that in most populations the child had a high likelihood of consuming at least one animal-source food and at least one fruit or vegetable that day, in addition to a staple food (grain, root or tuber).
- Results may be reported separately for breastfed and non-breastfed children. However, diversity scores for breastfed and non-breastfed children should not be directly compared, because breast milk is not 'counted' in any of the above food groups. Breast milk is not counted because the indicator is meant to reflect the quality of the complementary food diet. As a consequence, this indicator may show 'better' results for children who are not breastfed than those who are breastfed in populations where formula and/or milk are commonly given to non-breastfed children.
- For the same reason, this indicator should not be used to compare populations that differ in prevalence of continued breastfeeding. This caution applies both to comparisons between different sub-populations at one point in time (e.g. urban versus rural comparisons) and the same population at different points in time (e.g. if continued breastfeeding has declined). The composite indicator (# 7 below) captures several different dimensions of feeding and can be used for comparisons across time and between populations with different rates in continued breastfeeding.
- It is recommended that the indicator be further disaggregated and reported for the following age groups: 6–11 months, 12–17 months and 18–23 months.

#### Meal frequency

6. **Minimum meal frequency:** Proportion of breastfed and non-breastfed children 6–23 months of age who receive solid, semi-solid, or soft foods (but also including milk feeds for non-breastfed children) the minimum number of times or more.

The indicator is calculated from the following two fractions:

Breastfed children 6–23 months of age who received solid, semi-solid or soft foods the minimum number of times or more during the previous day

Breastfed children 6-23 months of age

and

Non-breastfed children 6–23 months of age who received solid, semi-solid or soft foods or milk feeds the minimum number of times or more during the previous day

Non-breastfed children 6–23 months of age

#### Notes:

- Minimum is defined as:
  - 2 times for breastfed infants 6–8 months
  - 3 times for breastfed children 9-23 months
  - 4 times for non-breastfed children 6–23 months
  - "Meals" include both meals and snacks (other than trivial amounts<sup>1</sup>), and frequency is based on caregiver report.
- This indicator is intended as a proxy for energy intake from foods other than breast milk.<sup>2</sup> Feeding frequency for breastfed children includes only non-liquid feeds and reflects the Guiding Principles<sup>3</sup> (5). Feeding frequency for non-breastfed children includes both milk feeds and solid/semi-solid feeds, and also reflects the Guiding Principles for these children (7).
- It is recommended that the indicator be further disaggregated and reported for the following age groups: 6–11 months, 12–17 months and 18–23 months of age. Results may also be reported separately for breastfed and non-breastfed children.

#### Summary infant and young child feeding indicator

7. **Minimum acceptable diet:** Proportion of children 6–23 months of age who receive a minimum acceptable diet (apart from breast milk).

This composite indicator will be calculated from the following two fractions:

Breastfed children 6–23 months of age who had at least the minimum dietary diversity and the minimum meal frequency during the previous day

Breastfed children 6-23 months of age

and

Non-breastfed children 6–23 months of age who received at least 2 milk feedings and had at least the minimum dietary diversity not including milk feeds and the minimum meal frequency during the previous day

Non-breastfed children 6-23 months of age

- For breastfed children, see indicators 5 and 6 above for "Minimum dietary diversity" and "Minimum meal frequency" definitions.
- For non-breastfed children, see indicator 6 above for definition of "Minimum meal frequency". The definition of "Minimum dietary diversity" is similar to the definition for indicator 5, but milk feeds are excluded from the diversity score for non-breastfed children when calculating "Minimum acceptable diet". This is because milk feeds are considered as a separate and required element for non-breastfed children in this multi-dimensional indicator. Exclusion of milk feeds from the diversity score here avoids "double-counting" of this food group and allows use of this indicator in comparisons – across space and time – between populations with different rates of continued breastfeeding.
- See indicator 15 below for the rationale for at least 2 milk feedings for non-breastfed children.
- It is recommended that the indicator be further disaggregated and reported for the following age groups: 6–11 months, 12–17 months and 18–23 months of age.

#### Annex 3: Background characteristics of the child

Variables		Total number (N)	Percent (%)
Region			
	Barisal	154	5.2
	Chittagong	711	24.2
	Dhaka	890	30.3
	Khulna	286	9.7
	Rajshahi	386	13.2
	Rangpur	299	10.2
	Sylhet	211	7.2
Father's edu	cation		
	No education	777	26.5
	Primary	886	30.2
	Secondary and above	1272	43.4
Father's occ	upation		
	Agricultural	841	28.8
	Non-agricultural	2021	69.2
	Others	59	2.0
Birth order			
	1 <sup>st</sup> child	1061	36.1
	2 <sup>nd</sup> to 4 <sup>th</sup>	1637	55.7
	5 <sup>th</sup> and above	238	8.1
Age of moth	er during last child birth		
	less than 20 years	884	30.1
	20 to 34 years	1949	66.4
	35 and above	103	3.5
ANC visits			
	No visit	919	31.8
	1 to 3 visit	1192	41.2
	4 to 6 visit	518	17.9
	7 and above	264	9.1
BMI of moth	er		
	<18	665	22.7
	18 to 25	1986	67.9
	Above 25	275	9.4
Place of delive	very		
	Home	2048	69.7
	health facility	889	30.3
Food insecur	rity		
	Food secure	1919	65.5

	Mild food insecure	761	26.0	
	Moderate food insecure	213	7.3	
	Severe food insecure	35	1.2	
Access to me	dia			
	Yes	1907	65.2	
	No	1017	34.8	
Had fever in	last two weeks			
	Yes	1275	43.4	
	No	1661	56.6	
Had symptoms of ARI in last two weeks				
	Yes	200	6.8	
	No	2728	93.2	
Had diarrhea	in last two weeks			
	Yes	196	6.7	
	No	2741	93.3	
Prelacteal feeding				
	Yes	1039	36.2	
	No	1831	63.8	

#### Annex 4: Infant and Young Child Feeding (IYCF) Indicators

Among 2936 children, almost half of the children (47%) initiated breastfeeding within one hour after birth. 64.8% of children aged between 6 to 8 months had been introduced to solid semi-solid or soft foods. In addition, continued breastfeeding among children 12-15 months was 95.1%. Only one fourth of children (24.8%) 6-23 months achieved the minimum dietary diversity. Almost two third of children (63.6%) 6-23 months had minimum dietary diversity. When these two indicators were combined, less than one fourth of children (20.9%) had a minimum acceptable diet.





# 5.1 Immediate causes

## 5.1.1 Dietary intake

Variables	Total number	% Stunted (n)	Total number	% Underweight	Total number (N)	% Wasted
	(N)		(N)	(n)		(n)
Univariate analy	sis					
Variable	Unadjusted OR	P-value	Unadjusted OR	P-value	Unadjusted OR	P-value
	(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for		(95% CI) for	
	stunting		underweight		wasting	
Minimum dietary	y diversity for all 6	to 23 months child	lren (both breastfe	eed & non-breastfe	eed)	
Yes	1		1		1	
No	1.5 (1.30-1.81)	0.000	1.9 (1.59-2.29)	0.000	1.1 (0.09-1.40)	0.274
Minimum meal f	requency for all 6	to 23 months child	ren (both breastfe	ed & non-breastfe	ed)	
Yes	1		1		1	
No	0.9 (0.81-1.12)	0.589	1.3 (1.13-1.57)	0.001	1.1 (0.91-1.38)	0.283
Minimum accept	able diet for all 6 t	o 23 months child	ren (both breastfe	ed & non-breastfe	ed)	
Yes	1		1		1	
No	1.5 (1.27-1.80)	0.000	1.9 (1.59-2.34)	0.000	1.0 (0.87-1.36)	0.441

Table 1: Association between dietary intake and undernutrition of under 2 children

In univariate analysis Children who did not eat minimum 4 groups of food were 1.5 (95% CI [1.30-1.81], p=0.000) and 1.9 (95% CI [1.59-2.29], p=0.000) times likely to being stunted and underweight than those who ate minimum 4 groups of food. It did not show significant association with wasting. In addition, Children who did not receive minimum meal frequency were 1.3 (95% CI [1.13-1.57], p=0.001) times higher risk to be underweighted compared to children who had minimum meal frequency. Minimum meal frequency was insignificantly associated with stunting and wasting. Moreover, Children who did not achieve a minimum acceptable diet were 1.5 (95% CI [1.27-1.80], p=0.000) and 1.9 (95% CI [1.59-2.34], p=0.000) times higher odds to being stunted and underweight compared to children who achieved a minimum acceptable diet.

## 5.1.2 Health status or morbidity history of children

Table 2: Association between morbidity history and undernutrition of children under 2 years of age

Variables	Total number (N)	% Stunted (n)	Total number (N)	% Underweight (n)	Total number (N)	% Wasted (n)
Univariate ar	alysis					
Variable	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for stunting	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for underweight	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for wasting	P-value
ARI						
Yes	1.6 (1.23-2.19)	0.001	1.3 (1.09-1.85)	0.037	0.7 (0.47-1.13)	0.166
No	1		1		1	
Fever						
Yes	1.2 (1.03-1.40)	0.016	1.4 (1.19-1.65)	0.000	1.1 (0.96-1.45)	0.099
No	1		1		1	
Diarrhoea						

Yes	1.2 (0.93-1.69)	0.123	1.6 (1.20-2.19)	0.001	1.6 (1.19-2.41)	0.003
No	1		1		1	

Univariate analysis showed that children who had ARI during the last 15 days had 1.6 (95% CI [1.23-2.19], p=0.001) and 1.3 times (95% CI [1.09-1.85], p=0.037) higher risk to be stunted and underweight compared to the children who had no ARI. ARI was insignificantly associated with wasting. In addition, children with diarrhoea during last 2 weeks were both 1.6 (95% CI [1.20-2.19], p=0.001 & 95% CI [1.19-2.41] p=0.003) times as likely to be underweight and wasted compared to the children without diarrhoea. Moreover, children with fever in previous 2 weeks had 1.4 (95%CI [0.93-1.69], p=0.000) times more likely to be underweight compared to those children who had no fever. Fever had no significant association with stunting.

## 5.2 Underlying causes

#### 5.2.1 Household food security

Table 3: Association of household food security and undernutrition of children under 2 years of age								
Variables	Total number (N )	% Stunted (n)	Total Number (N)	% Underweight (n)	Total number (N)	% Wasted (n)		
Univariate analysi	S							
Variable	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for stunting	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for underweight	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for wasting	P-value		
Household food secu	urity							
Food secure	1		1		1			
Mild food insecure	1.4 (1.23-1.76)	0.000	1.8 (1.53-2.27)	0.000	1.1 (0.88-1.43)	0.331		
moderate food insecure	2.3 (1.76-3.12)	0.000	2.8 (2.15-3.84)	0.000	1.5 (1.07-2.19)	0.019		
Severe food insecure	1.1 (0.60-2.22)	0.654	1.5 (0.80-3.05)	0.185	1.4 (0.67-3.22)	0.332		
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.091			

In univariate analysis, moderate food insecure household's children were 2.3 (95% CI [1.76-3.12], p=0.000) times more likely to be stunted compared to children from food secure household. In contrast to food secure household, moderate food insecure household had 2.8 (95% CI [2.15-3.84], p=0.000) times more underweight children. It did not show significant result with wasting.

## 5.2.2 Care for women and children

Table 4: Association of care practices for women and children with undernutrition of children under 2 years of age

Variables	Total number (N)	% Stunted (n)	Total number (N)	% Underweight (n)	Total number (N)	% Wasted (n)
Univariate analysis						
Variable	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for stunting	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for underweight	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for wasting	P-value
Mother's age during o	hild birth					
<20 years	1		1		1	
20 to 34 years	0.7 (0.64-0.89)	0.001	0.8 (0.71-1.01)	0.079	0.9 (0.77-1.20)	0.748

35 or above	1.1 (0.74-1.67)	0.587	1.8 (1.22-2.74)	0.004	1.5 (0.91-2.46)	0.107
	P=0.002		P=0.000		P=0.188	
Birth order						
1 <sup>st</sup> child	1		1		1	
2 <sup>nd</sup> to 4 <sup>th</sup> child	1.0 (0.85-1.18)	0.903	1.1 (0.95-1.35)	0.158	0.9 (0.76-1.18)	0.648
5 <sup>th</sup> or above	1.5 (1.14-2.03)	0.004	2.1 (1.61-2.90)	0.000	1.2 (0.86-1.81)	0.234
	P=0.009		P=0.000		P=0.188	
Mothers' BMI						
<18	1.3 (1.16-1.66)	0.000	1.9 (1.58-2.29)	0.000	1.5 (1.23-1.94)	0.000
18 to 25	1		1		1	
Above 25	0.4 (0.31-0.58)	0.000	0.4 (0.31-0.63)	0.000	0.6 (0.39-0.91)	0.018
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.000	
Prelacteal feeding						
Yes	1.2 (1.04-1.44)	0.011	1.1 (0.97-1.36)	0.105	1.0 (0.88-1.35)	0.418
No	1		1		1	

In univariate analysis, children with mother of 35 years or above at the time of birth 1.8 (95% CI [0.74-1.67], p=0.004) times more likely to be underweighted compared to children whose mother's age less than 20 years at the time of birth. The results were insignificant for wasting. Children with 5<sup>th</sup> or more birth were 1.5 (95% CI [1.14-2.03], p=0.004) and 2.1 (95% CI [1.61-2.90], p=0.000) times more likely to be stunted and underweighted compared to the children with 1<sup>st</sup> birth. In addition, children whose had low BMI (<18) were 1.3 (95% CI [1.16-1.66], p=0.000), 1.9 (95% CI [1.58-2.29], p=0.000) and 1.5 (95% CI [1.23-1.94], p=0.000) times more likely to be stunted, underweighted and wasted compared to children whose mothers had normal BMI.

Moreover, children who were fed prelacteal feed were 1.2 (95% CI [1.04-1.44], p=0.011) times more likely to be stunted compared to children who were not fed prelacteal feed. But the result did not show significant association with underweight and wasting.

Table 5: Associ	Table 5: Association of environmental factors and health services with undernutrition of under 2 years children								
Variables	Total number	% Stunted (n)	Total number	% Underweight	Total number	% Wasted (n)			
	(N)		(N)	(n)	(N)				
Univariate analy	sis								
Variable	P-value	Unadjusted OR	P-value	Unadjusted OR	P-value	Unadjusted OR			
		(95% CI)		(95% CI)		(95% CI)			
Toilet facility									
Flush latrine	1		1		1				
Pit latrine	1.3 (1.05-1.69)	0.017	1.9 (1.50-2.65)	0.000	1.4 (1.04-2.05)	0.029			
No	1.3 (1.03-1.78)	0.026	2.4 (1.78-3.32)	0.000	1.6 (1.12-2.39)	0.010			
facility/others									
	P=0.046		P=0.000		P=0.034				
Source of drinking	ng water								
Pipe water	1		1		1				
Tube well	1.3 (1.02-1.77)	0.033	1.9 (1.39-2.67)	0.000	1.1 (0.80-1.68)	0.424			
water									
Others	0.9 (0.68-1.34)	0.817	1.5 (1.03-2.23)	0.031	1.5 (1.03-2.23)	0.488			
	P=0.003		P=0.000		P=0.720				
Place of delivery									
Home	1.7 (1.44-2.03)	0.000	2.0 (1.69-2.45)	0.000	0.4 (1.17-1.84)	0.001			
Hospital	1		1		1				

#### 5.2.3 Environmental factors and utilization health services

Mother's ANC visits								
No visit	1		1		1			
1 to3	0.6 (0.53-0.76)	0.000	0.5 (0.42-0.61)	0.000	0.6 (0.52-0.83)	0.001		
4 to 6	0.7 (0.58-0.90)	0.005	0.4 (0.33-0.54)	0.000	0.6 (0.48-0.86)	0.004		
7 or above	0.5 (0.38-0.69)	0.000	0.3 (0.22-0.44)	0.000	0.4 (0.26-0.62)	0.000		
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.000			

In univariate analysis, children who had no facilities and pit latrine were both 1.3 (95% CI [1.05-1.69], p=0.026 & 95% CI [1.05-1.69], p=0.017) times more likely to be stunted compared to children with flush latrine. In addition, the likelihood of being underweight was 2.4 (95% CI [1.78-3.32], p=0.000) and 1.9 (95% CI [1.50-2.65], p=0.000) times higher among children with no toilet facilities and pit latrines. Moreover, Children whose household had no facilities and pit latrine were 1.6 (95% CI [1.12-2.39], p=0.010) and 1.4 (95% CI [1.04-2.05], p=0.029) times likely to be wasted compared to children with flush latrine.

Children who drank tube well water were 1.3 (95% CI [1.02-1.77], p=0.033) times odds to be stunted compared to children who drank pipe water. In addition, the likelihood of being underweight were 1.9 (95% CI [1.39-2.67], p=0.000) and 1.5 (95% CI [1.03-2.23], p=0.031) times higher among children with tube well and other sources of water compared to children with pipe water. Source of drinking water did not show any association with wasting.

Children who were born in home were 1.7 (95% CI [1.44-2.03], p=0.000) and 2.0 (95% CI [1.69-2.45] p=0.000) times higher odds to be stunted and underweighted compared to children who were born in hospital. But in case of wasted children who were born in home were 0.4 (95% CI [1.17-1.84], p=0.001) times lower odds to be wasted than children who were born in hospital.

The prevalence of stunting, underweight and wasting was 30%, 60%, and 40% less among the children whose mothers had 4 to 6 ANC visits compared to children whose mothers had no ANC visits.

## 5.3 Basic causes

## 5.3.1 Socio-demographic factors

Table 6: Association of socio-demographic factors and undernutrition of children under 2 years of age

Variables	Total number (N)	% Stunted (n)	Total number (N)	% Underweight (n)	Total number (N)	% Wasted (n)		
Univariate analysis								
Variable	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for stunting	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for underweight	P-value	Unadjusted OR (95% CI) for wasting	P-value		
Region								
Chittagong	1		1		1			
Barisal	1.3 (1.03-1.83)	0.030	1.1 (0.86-1.58)	0.298	0.9 (0.65-1.39)	0.797		
Dhaka	1.3 (1.07-1.78)	0.012	1.0 (0.765-1.31)	0.994	1.1 (0.81-1.55)	0.469		
Khulna	1.1 (0.84-1.48)	0.424	0.5 (0.43-0.81)	0.001	0.5 (0.39-0.89)	0.013		
Rajshahi	1.0 (0.75-1.33)	0.968	0.8 (0.64-1.16)	0.345	0.9 (0.67-1.37)	0.839		
Rangpur	1.6 (1.27-2.19)	0.000	0.9 (0.74-1.32)	0.950	0.5 (0.39-0.89)	0.014		

Sylhet	1.4 (1.09-1.84)	0.008	1.5 (1.20-2.03)	0.001	1.3 (0.96-1.83)	0.081
	P=0.001		P=0.000		P=0.001	
Place of resider	nce					
Urban	1		1		1	
Rural	1.2 (1.07-1.50)	0.005	1.6 (1.40-2.02)	0.000	1.2 (1.01-1.59)	0.038
Age of child						
0-5 months	1		1		1	
6-11 months	1.4 (1.09-1.83)	0.007	1.7 (1.34-2.27)	0.000	0.9 (0.71-1.29)	0.799
12-17 months	4.1 (3.23-5.27)	0.000	2.5 (1.95-3.27)	0.000	1.0 (0.74-1.34)	0.983
18-23 months	4.9 (3.85-6.35)	0.000	3.4 (2.66-4.47)	0.000	1.2 (0.94-1.69)	0.119
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.219	
Father's educat	tion					
None	1.8 (1.55-2.27)	0.000	2.5 (2.08-3.13)	0.000	1.6 (1.28-2.11)	0.000
Primary	1.8 (1.56-2.24)	0.000	2.0 (1.70-2.52)	0.000	1.3 (1.04-1.69)	0.023
Secondary	1		1		1	
and above						
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.000	
Father's occupa	ation					
Agricultural	1		1		1	
Non-	0.6 (0.52-0.74)	0.000	0.5 (0.47-0.67)	0.000	0.7 (0.60-0.94)	0.014
agricultural						
Others	0.4 (0.27-0.87)	0.017	0.5 (0.28-0.96)	0.039	1.1 (0.60-2.24)	0.652
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.029	
Access to any t	ype of media					
Yes	1		1		1	
No	1.6 (1.37-1.88)	0.000	2.1 (1.79-2.50)	0.000	1.6 (1.34-2.03)	0.000
Mother's educa	ation					
None	1.9 (1.58-2.42)	0.000	2.7 (2.20-3.44)	0.000	1.7 (1.28-2.24)	0.000
Primary	1.4 (1.21-1.72)	0.000	2.1 (1.78-2.58)	0.000	1.6 (1.31-2.07)	0.000
Secondary or	1		1		1	
above						
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.000	
Wealth quintile	2					
Poorest	3.0 (2.38-3.93)	0.000	4.5 (3.43-5.99)	0.000	1.7 (1.20-2.29)	0.002
Poorer	2.2 (1.71-2.86)	0.000	2.9 (2.18-3.87)	0.000	1.4 (0.96-1.90)	0.077
Middle	1.7 (1.31-2.21)	0.000	2.2 (1.64-2.94)	0.000	1.5 (1.09-2.11)	0.013
Richer	1.5 (1.18-1.99)	0.001	1.2 (0.92-1.71)	0.145	0.9 (0.69-1.39)	0.932
Richest	1		1		1	
	P=0.000		P=0.000		P=0.002	

In univariate analysis, children born in Rangpur and Sylhet divisions had 1.6 (95% CI [1.27-2.19], p=0.000) and 1.4 (95% CI [1.09-1.84], p=0.008) times higher risk to be stunted compared to the children born in Chittagong division. In addition, children from Sylhet division were 1.5 (95% CI [1.20-2.03], p=0.001) times more likely to be underweighted compared to children from Chittagong division. Moreover, Khulna and Rangpur division's children were 50% less likely to be wasted than the Chittagong division.

Compared to urban children, rural children had 1.2 (95% CI [1.07-1.50], p=0.005), 1.6 (95% CI [1.40-2.02], p=0.000) and 1.2 (95% CI [1.01-1.59], p=0.038) times more odds of stunting, underweight and wasting.
The risk of being malnourished is increased with increase of age. Children in age category of 12-17 months and 18-23 months had 4.1 (95% CI [3.23-5.27], p=0.000) and 4.9 (95% CI [3.85-6.35], p=0.000) times higher risk to be stunted compared to the children of under 6 months. In addition, the risk of being underweight was high among children of children 12-17 months and of 18-23 months which were 2.5 (95% CI [1.95-3.27], p=0.000) and 3.4 (95% CI [2.66-4.47], p=0.000), and times compared to children of under 6 months of age. In case of wasted children it did not show any significant result.

Children whose fathers had no formal education were 1.8 (95% CI [1.55-2.27], p=0.000), 2.5 (95% CI [2.08-3.13], p=0.000) and 1.6 (95% CI [1.28-2.11], p=0.000) times higher risk to be stunted, underweighted and wasted compared to the children whose fathers had secondary or higher education.

Children whose fathers worked in non-agricultural sector had 0.6 (95% CI [0.52-0.74], p=0.000) and 0.5 (95% CI [0.47-0.67], p=0.000) times lower odds of stunting and underweight than children whose fathers worked in agricultural sector.

Children whose mothers had no media exposures were 1.6 (95% CI [1.37-1.88], p=0.000), 2.1(95% CI [1.79-2.50], p=0.000) and 1.6 (95% CI [1.34-2.03], p=0.000) times more likely to be stunted, underweighted and wasted compared to children whose mothers had media exposure.

Children whose mothers had no education and primary educated were 1.9 (95% CI [1.58-2.42], p=0.000) and 1.4 (95% CI [1.21-1.72], p=0.000) times likely to stunted than children whose mother had secondary or higher education. In addition, the likelihood of being underweighted and wasted were 2.7 (95% CI [2.20-3.44], p=0.000) and 1.7 (95% CI [1.28-2.24], p=0.000) times higher among children whose mothers had no education compared to children whose mother had secondary or higher education.

In univariate analysis, compared to richest wealth quintile, poorest and poorer wealth quintile's children were 3.0 (95% CI [2.38-3.93], p=0.000) and 2.2 (95% CI [1.71-2.86], p=0.000) times more likely to be stunted. In addition, children from poorest and poorer wealth quintile had 4.5 (95% CI [3.43-5.99], p=0.000) and 2.9 (95% CI [2.18-3.87], p=0.000) p=0.000) times higher risk to be underweight than children of richest wealth quintile. Moreover, children who lived in poorest and poorer households were 1.7 and 1.4 times more likely to be wasted.

## Annex 6: WHO scoring on IYCF intervention activities in Bangladesh

Criteria of Indicator 6	Scoring	Results
		🗸 Check any one
6.1) A national Infant and Young Child Feeding/Breastfeeding policy has been officially adopted/approved by the government	2	$\checkmark$
6.2) The policy promotes exclusive breastfeeding for the first six months, complementary feeding to be started after six months and continued breastfeeding up to 2 years and beyond.	2	✓
6.3) A National Plan of Action has been developed with the policy	2	$\checkmark$
6.4) The plan is adequately funded	1	
6.5) There is a National Breastfeeding Committee	1	
6.6) The National Breastfeeding (Infant and Young Child Feeding) Committee meets and reviews on a regular basis	1	
6.7) The National Breastfeeding (Infant and Young Child Feeding) Committee links with all other sectors like health, nutrition, information etc., effectively	0.5	
6.8) Breastfeeding Committee is headed by a coordinator with clear terms of reference	0.5	
Total Score	6/ 10	6